

No.

---

**In the Supreme Court of the United States**

---

RONALD SALAHUDDIN,

*Petitioner,*

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

*Respondent.*

---

**On Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to  
the United States Court of Appeals for  
the Third Circuit**

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

THOMAS R. ASHLEY  
*50 Park Place  
Newark, NJ 07102  
(973) 623-0501*

EUGENE R. FIDELL  
*Yale Law School  
Supreme Court Clinic  
127 Wall Street  
New Haven, CT 06511  
(203) 432-4992*

ANDREW J. PINCUS  
*Counsel of Record*  
CHARLES A. ROTHFELD  
MICHAEL B. KIMBERLY  
PAUL W. HUGHES  
*Mayer Brown LLP  
1999 K Street NW  
Washington, DC 20006  
(202) 263-3000  
apincus@  
mayerbrown.com*

*Counsel for Petitioner*

---

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Whether the conspiracy offense proscribed in the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a), requires proof that a defendant committed an overt act in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Question Presented .....	i
Table of Authorities.....	iv
Opinions Below.....	1
Jurisdiction.....	1
Statutory Provision Involved.....	1
Statement .....	2
A. Factual Background .....	3
B. Proceedings Below .....	4
Reasons for Granting the Petition.....	6
A. There Is A Broad, Acknowledged Conflict Regarding The Question Presented .....	6
1. Three courts of appeals hold that an overt act is a required element of a Hobbs Act conspiracy .....	7
2. Four courts of appeals do not require proof of an overt act.....	9
B. The Conspiracy Offense Under Section 1951(a) Requires Proof of an Overt Act .....	10
1. Section 1951(a)'s text and context .....	10
2. This Court's decisions in Salinas, Shabani, and Whitfield do not support a different result.....	12
3. The rule of lenity favors interpreting the provision to require proof of an overt act .....	15
C. The Question Presented Is Important and Frequently Recurring.....	17
Conclusion .....	19

Appendix A – Court of appeals opinion (Sept. 3, 2014).....	1a
Appendix B – District court opinion on motion for acquittal (July 19, 2012) .....	39a

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases

<i>Brown &amp; Williamson</i> , 529 U.S. at 133.....	11
<i>FDA v. Brown &amp; Williamson Tobacco Corp.</i> , 529 U.S. 120 (2000).....	11
<i>Grunewald v. United States</i> , 353 U.S. 391 (1957).....	16
<i>Krulewitch v. United States</i> , 336 U.S. 440 (1949).....	16
<i>Liparota v. United States</i> , 471 U.S. 419 (1985).....	15
<i>Massachusetts v. United States</i> , 333 U.S. 611 (1948).....	14
<i>Salinas v. United States</i> , 522 U.S. 52 (1997).....	12-13, 18
<i>Scheidler v. Nat’l Org. for Women, Inc.</i> , 537 U.S. 393 (2003).....	11
<i>United States v. Bass</i> , 404 U.S. 336 (1971).....	15, 18
<i>United States v. Benton</i> , 852 F.2d 1456 (6th Cir. 1988).....	8
<i>United States v. Box</i> , 50 F.3d 345 (5th Cir. 1995).....	8
<i>United States v. Butler</i> , 618 F.2d 411 (6th Cir. 1980).....	8
<i>United States v. Clemente</i> , 22 F.3d 477 (2d Cir. 1994) .....	9

**Cases—continued**

<i>United States v. Corson</i> , 579 F.3d 804 .....	7
<i>United States v. El-Mezain</i> , 664 F.3d 467 (5th Cir. 2011).....	18
<i>United States v. Enriquez</i> , No. EP-08-CR-059-DB(15), 2009 WL 522722 (W.D. Tex. Jan. 28, 2009).....	8
<i>United States v. Fausto</i> , 484 U.S. 439 (1988).....	12
<i>United States v. Hassan</i> , 742 F.3d 104 (4th Cir. 2014).....	18
<i>United States v. Herrera</i> , 466 Fed. Appx. 409 (5th Cir. 2012) .....	8
<i>United States v. Hickman</i> , 151 F.3d 446 (5th Cir. 1998).....	7-8
<i>United States v. Manzo</i> , 636 F.3d 56 (3d Cir. 2011) .....	10
<i>United States v. Monserrate-Valentin</i> , 729 F.3d 31 (1st Cir. 2013) .....	9
<i>United States v. Ocasio</i> , 750 F.3d 399 (4th Cir. 2014).....	9
<i>United States v. Pistone</i> , 177 F.3d 957 (11th Cir. 1999).....	7, 9
<i>United States v. Richardson</i> , 596 F.2d 157 (6th Cir. 1979).....	9
<i>United States v. Rogers</i> , 118 F.3d 466 (6th Cir. 1997).....	7

**Cases—continued**

<i>United States v. Santos</i> , 553 U.S. 507 (2008).....	15
<i>United States v. Shabani</i> , 513 U.S. 10 (1994).....	<i>passim</i>
<i>United States v. Stephens</i> , 964 F.2d 424 (5th Cir. 1992).....	8
<i>United States v. Stodola</i> , 953 F.2d 266 (7th Cir. 1992).....	9
<i>United States v. Thomas</i> , 8 F.3d 1552 (11th Cir. 1993).....	7
<i>United States v. Tuchow</i> , 768 F.2d 855 (7th Cir. 1985).....	9
<i>United States v. U.S. Gypsum Co.</i> , 438 U.S. 422 (1978).....	15
<i>United States v. Uselton</i> , 974 F.2d 1339 (6th Cir. 1992).....	8
<i>United States v. Villarreal</i> , 764 F.2d 1048 (5th Cir. 1985).....	7
<i>United States v. Williams</i> , 503 F.2d 50 (6th Cir. 1974).....	8
<i>Von Moltke v. Gillies</i> , 332 U.S. 708 (1948).....	16
<i>Whitfield v. United States</i> , 543 U.S. 209 (2005).....	<i>passim</i>
<i>Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass'ns</i> , 531 U.S. 457 (2001).....	14
<i>Wolff v. McDonnell</i> , 418 U.S. 539 (1974).....	18

**Statutes, rules and regulations**

18 U.S.C. § 2 .....	4
18 U.S.C. § 371 .....	11-14
18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(B) .....	4
18 U.S.C. § 1366(a) .....	17
18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) .....	13
18 U.S.C. § 2332 .....	17
18 U.S.C. § 2339A(a) .....	17
18 U.S.C. § 2339B(a)(1) .....	17-18
21 U.S.C. § 846 .....	12-13
28 U.S.C. § 1254 .....	1
50 U.S.C. § 1705(a) .....	17
An Act: To Codify, Revise, and Amend the Penal Laws of the United States, § 37, Pub. L. No. 60-350, 35 Stat.1096 (Mar. 4, 1909) .....	11
Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970 .....	12
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 29 .....	4-5
Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 33 .....	5
Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 88 (1940) .....	11
Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) .....	<i>passim</i>
N.Y. Penal Law § 583 (1909) .....	11
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) .....	13
Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1 .....	6, 13



**Other authorities**

David B. Filvaroff, *Conspiracy and the First Amendment*, 121 U. Pa. L. Rev. 189 (1972) ..... 16

Keven Jon Heller, Note, *Whatever Happened to Proof Beyond a Reasonable Doubt? Of Drug Conspiracies, Overt Acts, and United States v. Shabani*, 49 Stan. L. Rev. 111 (1996)..... 16

Petitioner Ronald Salahuddin respectfully petitions for a writ of certiorari to review the judgment of the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in this case.

#### **OPINIONS BELOW**

The opinion of the court of appeals (App., *infra*, 1a-38a) is reported at 765 F.3d 329. The opinion of the district court denying petitioner's motion for a acquittal or a new trial (App., *infra*, 39a-110a) is unreported, but is available in the Westlaw database at 2012 WL 2952436.

#### **JURISDICTION**

The judgment of the court of appeals was entered on September 3, 2014. This Court's jurisdiction rests on 28 U.S.C. § 1254.

#### **STATUTORY PROVISION INVOLVED**

The Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a), provides in relevant part that:

Whoever in any way or degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in commerce, by robbery or extortion or attempts or conspires so to do, or commits or threatens physical violence to any person or property in furtherance of a plan or purpose to do anything in violation of this section shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both.

**STATEMENT**

This Court has several times addressed whether a conspiracy offense requires proof of an overt act, but each time with respect to standalone statutory provisions creating separate conspiracy offenses. In that context, the Court has held that an express reference to an overt act is necessary to create an overt act requirement. Congress has enacted such separate statutory provisions establishing conspiracy offenses both with and without “overt act” language, and the Court has concluded that the absence of an overt act requirement therefore indicates Congress’s intent to dispense with that element of the offense.

This case involves statutory language creating a conspiracy offense that differs materially from the provisions addressed in this Court’s prior decisions: the inclusion of the phrase “or conspires” following the Hobbs Act clause establishing the substantive violation. There is a clear, acknowledged conflict among the lower courts as to whether proof of an overt act is an element of this conspiracy offense, which is charged frequently by the government. And Congress employed the same formulation in other criminal statutes, as to which the same uncertainty exists.

This case provides a clean vehicle for resolving the issue. Petitioner was acquitted on every other count of the indictment, including an attempt charge and three substantive Hobbs Act violations, indicating that the absence of an overt act requirement likely played a determinative role in the jury’s decision to convict. The petition should be granted.

### A. Factual Background

Prior to 2006, petitioner Ronald Salahuddin and Sonnie Cooper had been informal business partners in Newark, New Jersey. App., *infra*, 4a. As part of this partnership, Salahuddin loaned funds to Cooper's New Jersey-based demolition business (Cooper Brothers), paying for the company's litigation and other expenses. Salahuddin also helped Cooper manage the company. *Id.* at 3a-4a.

In 2006, Salahuddin was appointed Newark's Deputy Mayor for Public Safety. Soon after, he met Joseph Parlavecchio, a Newark political figure who consulted for several New Jersey demolition companies. App., *infra*, 4a. One of these companies was owned by Nicholas Mazzocchi, who hired Parlavecchio to secure municipal demolition contracts from Newark. *Id.* at 4a.

In the years that followed, Salahuddin was regularly in contact with Cooper, Parlavecchio, and Mazzocchi. App., *infra*, 4a-5a. The four men discussed an arrangement under which Mazzocchi's company would obtain demolition jobs from Newark in exchange for using Cooper Brothers as a subcontractor. *Id.* at 5a-6a.

Salahuddin had no official power to award demolition contracts. App., *infra*, 5a. Some of his statements, however, arguably suggested that he could influence those decisions, and he did ask Newark's Demolition Director to give work to Mazzocchi's company. *Id.* at 5a-6a. This official, in turn, awarded some jobs to Mazzocchi, who subcontracted work to Cooper Brothers. *Id.* at 6a.

During this time, Salahuddin also sought political and charitable donations from Mazzocchi. App.,

*infra*, 7a. In response to Salahuddin's inquiries, Mazzocchi contributed to the nonprofit Newark Now, the campaign of Newark Mayor Cory Booker, and the Empower Newark political action committee. *Ibid.*

Unbeknownst to Salahuddin, Mazzocchi had been an FBI informant throughout the course of their conversations. App., *infra*, 4a. To avoid unrelated bribery charges, he had agreed to record his meetings and phone calls with Salahuddin. *Ibid.* These recordings formed the basis for Salahuddin's subsequent prosecution.

### **B. Proceedings Below**

A grand jury in Trenton, New Jersey, returned a five-count indictment against Salahuddin in 2010. App., *infra*, 7a. Count 1 alleged that he conspired to violate the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a). The second count alleged that he attempted to violate that Act. In Counts 3, 4 and 5, Salahuddin was charged with violations of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(B) and 18 U.S.C. § 2 for knowingly and corruptly soliciting, demanding, accepting, and agreeing to accept things of value to influence and reward. App., *infra*, 7a.

Following the close of the government's case, Salahuddin moved for a judgment of acquittal under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 29, or, in the alternative, for a new trial under Rule 33. App., *infra*, 47a-48a. He argued that a Hobbs Act conspiracy charge requires proof of an overt act of agreeing to, and accepting, a promised benefit, and that the government failed to prove any such act. *Id.* at 81a. The district court deferred ruling on the motion. *Id.* at 64a.

The district court's jury instruction on the conspiracy charge did not identify proof of an overt act

in furtherance of the conspiracy as an element of the offense. App., *infra*, 10a. The jury acquitted petitioner on Counts 2, 3, 4 and 5, returning a guilty verdict only on the conspiracy charge. *Id.* at 8a.

Petitioner then reasserted his arguments under Rule 29, requested a new trial under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 33, and challenged the verdict on grounds of erroneous jury instructions—all based on the failure to charge the jury regarding the overt act element of the conspiracy offense and the absence of proof of any overt act. App., *infra*, 8a. The district court denied the post-trial motions, and sentenced petitioner to a term of imprisonment for one year and one day, two years of supervised release, and a \$5,000 fine. *Id.* at 8a.

The court of appeals affirmed. App., *infra*, 1a-38a. Although petitioner argued that a Hobbs Act conspiracy charge requires proof of an overt act in his motion for acquittal before the case was submitted to the jury (*id.* at 48a-49a, 81a), the court of appeals stated that because petitioner did not object to the jury instruction, it would review the question whether the conspiracy charge required proof of an overt act under a plain error standard. *Id.* at 9a-10a.

The court determined that the question was governed by this Court's decisions in *United States v. Shabani*, 513 U.S. 10 (1994), and *Whitfield v. United States*, 543 U.S. 209 (2005), which addressed the existence of an overt act requirement in the context of statutory provisions creating standalone conspiracy offenses. It held that if a conspiracy provision “is modeled on \* \* \* the general conspiracy statute [which contains an express overt-act requirement], ‘it gets an overt-act requirement.’” App., *infra*, 11a-12a (quoting *Shabani*, 543 U.S. at 14). On the other

hand, the court explained that if a law “is modeled on the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, which omits any express overt-act requirement, ‘it dispenses with such a requirement.’” App., *infra*, 11a-12a (quoting *Shabani*, 543 U.S. at 14). The court concluded that the absence of an express overt-act requirement in Section 1951(a)’s text therefore required it to hold that an overt act is not an element of a Hobbs Act conspiracy. App., *infra*, 13a.

In reaching its conclusion, the panel acknowledged the division among the courts of appeals over whether an overt act is an element of a Hobbs Act conspiracy, expressly noting that “[t]he Fifth Circuit requires an overt act for Hobbs Act conspiracy.” App., *infra*, 15a.

#### **REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION**

This case presents a question on which there is a clear, recognized conflict among the courts of appeals. Moreover, the court below concluded—erroneously—that its ruling was compelled by this Court’s precedents addressing overt act requirements for differently-formulated conspiracy offenses. The particular statutory language that Congress employed in the Hobbs Act appears in many other criminal statutes and is frequently invoked in Hobbs Act prosecutions. This Court should grant review to clarify this important, recurring question of criminal law.

##### **A. There Is A Broad, Acknowledged Conflict Regarding The Question Presented**

The conflict among the courts of appeals on the question presented in this case is well-recognized, longstanding, and persistent. The court below expressly recognized that its decision conflicts with a

binding decision of the Fifth Circuit. App., *infra*, 15a-16a. In fact, the division of authority is deeper than that, as other courts of appeals have acknowledged. See, e.g., *United States v. Corson*, 579 F.3d 804, 810 n. † (7th Cir. 2009) (while “some of our decisions list an overt act as an element,” a “number of other circuits, however, have expressly held that a Hobbs Act conspiracy does not require an overt act.”); *United States v. Pistone*, 177 F.3d 957, 959 (11th Cir. 1999) (“The circuits which have spoken on [the overt act requirement] are divided.”); *United States v. Rogers*, 118 F.3d 466, 474 n.8 (6th Cir. 1997) (recognizing “a split among the circuits”); *United States v. Thomas*, 8 F.3d 1552, 1560 n.18 (11th Cir. 1993) (noting the “split in the circuits”).

**1. *Three courts of appeals hold that an overt act is a required element of a Hobbs Act conspiracy***

Three courts of appeals have rendered decisions that squarely conflict with the holding below, recognizing that an overt act is a required element of a Hobbs Act conspiracy. Had petitioner’s suit been brought in one of these circuits, the government would have been required to prove that petitioner committed an overt act.

The Fifth Circuit considered the matter in *United States v. Stephens*, 964 F.2d 424 (5th Cir. 1992). The defendant in *Stephens* challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain his conspiracy convictions. *Id.* at 427. In assessing the sufficiency of the evidence, the Fifth Circuit explained that, “[t]o convict for criminal conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. § 1951, the jury must find an agreement between two or more persons to commit a crime, and an overt act by one of the conspirators to further the conspiracy.” *Ibid.*



The Fifth Circuit has time and again reaffirmed that holding. See, e.g., *United States v. Hickman*, 151 F.3d 446, 454 (5th Cir. 1998) (citing *Stephens*); *United States v. Box*, 50 F.3d 345, 349 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing *Stephens*). The court below dismissed these decisions because it believed that the Fifth Circuit had not had an opportunity to examine the overt act requirement in light of this Court's decisions in *Shabani* and *Whitfield*. App., *infra*, 16a. But that is simply wrong. Both *Hickman* and *Box* were decided after this Court's decision in *Shabani* in 1994. And after *Whitfield* was decided in 2005, the Fifth Circuit had an additional opportunity to address the issue. See *United States v. Herrera*, 466 Fed. Appx. 409 (5th Cir. 2012). Unsurprisingly, district courts within the Fifth Circuit recognize the ongoing validity of the Fifth Circuit's rule and routinely require proof of an overt act to convict a defendant under the Hobbs Act's conspiracy clause. See, e.g., *United States v. Enriquez*, No. EP-08-CR-059-DB(15), 2009 WL 522722, at \*3 (W.D. Tex. Jan. 28, 2009) (quoting *Box* and *Stephens*).<sup>1</sup>

The Sixth Circuit reached the same result in *United States v. Butler*, 618 F.2d 411 (6th Cir. 1980). There, the defendants challenged the government's proof of conspiracy, and the court concluded that an overt act was a necessary element of a conspiracy. *Id.* at 414 (citing *United States v. Williams*, 503 F.2d 50, 54 (6th Cir. 1974)). Since then, the Sixth Circuit has repeatedly stated that an overt act is a required element of a Hobbs Act conspiracy. See, e.g., *United States v. Uselton*, 974 F.2d 1339 (6th Cir. 1992);

---

<sup>1</sup> In any event, as we discuss below (at 12-15, *infra*), *Shabani* and *Whitfield* do not govern this case.

*United States v. Benton*, 852 F.2d 1456 (6th Cir. 1988); *United States v. Richardson*, 596 F.2d 157 (6th Cir. 1979).

Finally, the Seventh Circuit held in *United States v. Tuchow*, 768 F.2d 855 (7th Cir. 1985), that an overt act is a required element of a Hobbs Act conspiracy. There, the defendants appealed their convictions on sufficiency-of-the-evidence grounds and the court of appeals, in reviewing their claims, stated that the government must prove an overt act to establish conspiracy to commit extortion under the Hobbs Act. *Id.* at 869; see also *United States v. Stodola*, 953 F.2d 266, 272 (7th Cir. 1992).

## **2. *Four courts of appeals do not require proof of an overt act***

In diametric conflict with the decisions of Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh Circuits, four other courts of appeals (including the court below) have concluded that a Hobbs Act conspiracy does not require proof of an overt act.

According to the court below, a “Hobbs Act conspiracy under § 1951 does not require an overt act.” App., *infra*, 13a. The First, Second, and Eleventh Circuits have reached the same conclusion. See *United States v. Monserrate-Valentin*, 729 F.3d 31, 46 (1st Cir. 2013); *United States v. Clemente*, 22 F.3d 477, 480 (2d Cir. 1994); *Pistone*, 177 F.3d at 960.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> The Fourth Circuit recently suggested in dictum that proof of an overt act may not be required. *United States v. Ocasio*, 750 F.3d 399, 409 n.12 (4th Cir. 2014).

In sum, there is a clear conflict among the lower courts regarding the question presented.<sup>3</sup>

### **B. The Conspiracy Offense Under Section 1951(a) Requires Proof of an Overt Act**

Section 1951(a) creates a conspiracy offense by adding the phrase “or conspires” after the description of the substantive offense. That statutory text, together with the context provided by other provisions of the federal criminal code, establishes that Congress intended to incorporate an overt act requirement into the Hobbs Act conspiracy offense. The court of appeals erred in relying on this Court’s decisions in *Shabani* and *Whitfield*—which involve materially different, separately-defined conspiracy offenses—to hold that proof of an overt act is not required. Finally, the rule of lenity weighs heavily in favor of an overt act requirement in the context of this statute.

#### ***1. Section 1951(a)’s text and context***

Section 1951(a) provides, in relevant part, that “[w]hoever \* \* \* obstructs, delays, or affects commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in commerce, by robbery or extortion or attempts or

---

<sup>3</sup> The conflict among the courts of appeals is mirrored in the conflicting positions on the question asserted by the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of New Jersey. Until very recently, that office had taken the position that an overt act was required for conviction on a Hobbs Act conspiracy. See, e.g., *United States v. Manzo*, 636 F.3d 56, 66 (3d Cir. 2011) (“The government argues that the [Hobbs Act] conspiracy count is valid because both elements of conspiracy are met: (1) criminal intent and (2) an overt act.”). In this case, however, it advocated the opposite interpretation of the statute.

*conspires* so to do \* \* \* shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both.” 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) (emphasis added).

The general federal conspiracy statute, 18 U.S.C. § 371, requires proof of an overt act. That was so when Congress enacted the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 88 (1940), as it had been since Congress enacted its first general criminal conspiracy statute in 1909. See An Act: To Codify, Revise, and Amend the Penal Laws of the United States, § 37, Pub. L. No. 60-350, 35 Stat.1096 (Mar. 4, 1909).

The most logical interpretation of Section 1951(a)’s two-word reference to a conspiracy offense is that Congress intended to incorporate the then-existing requirements of the general federal conspiracy standard, including proof of an overt act. “[T]he meaning of one statute may be affected by other Acts.” *FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp.*, 529 U.S. 120, 133 (2000). Congress enacted the Hobbs Act against a statutory background that included a general federal conspiracy offense requiring proof of an overt act. Congress maintained that requirement two years later, when it enacted Section 371. The terms of that more specific statute therefore elucidate Congress’s intent with respect to the Hobbs Act’s conspiracy clause. *Brown & Williamson*, 529 U.S. at 133.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The New York Penal Law, on which the Hobbs Act was modeled, see *Scheidler v. Nat’l Org. for Women, Inc.*, 537 U.S. 393, 403 (2003), also contained an overt act requirement for conspiracy. See N.Y. Penal Law § 583 (1909).

If Congress wished to depart from the general requirements of a federal conspiracy offense when it enacted the Hobbs Act, it could, and would, have said so. “[I]t can be strongly presumed that Congress will specifically address language on the statute books that it wishes to change.” *United States v. Fausto*, 484 U.S. 439, 453 (1988). Congress’s use of the short phrase “or conspires” provides no basis for altering the generally-applicable requirements of a federal conspiracy conviction, which have included an overt act for over a century—and which had been on the books for decades when the Hobbs Act was enacted.

***2. This Court’s decisions in Salinas, Shabani, and Whitfield do not support a different result***

The court below erred in basing its rejection of an overt act requirement on this Court’s decisions in *United States v. Shabani*, 513 U.S. 10 (1994), *Salinas v. United States*, 522 U.S. 52 (1997), and *Whitfield v. United States*, 543 U.S. 209 (2005). The holdings and rationale of those rulings are wholly inapplicable here.

*Shabani* involved 21 U.S.C. § 846, the general federal drug conspiracy statute, which provides that “[a]ny person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense defined in [the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970] shall be subject to the same penalties as those prescribed for the offense, the commission of which was the object of the attempt or conspiracy.” 21 U.S.C. § 846. The Court reasoned that

the general conspiracy statute [Section 371] preceded and presumably provided the framework for the more specific drug con-

spiracy statute. \* \* \* [B]y choosing a text modeled on § 371, [Congress] gets an overt-act requirement; by choosing a text modeled on the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, it dispenses with such a requirement. Congress appears to have made the choice quite deliberately with respect to § 846 \* \* \*.

*United States v. Shabani*, 513 U.S. at 14 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

In *Salinas*, the Court construed the conspiracy provision of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), that—like the provision in *Shabani*—was separate from the statutory language creating the substantive offense. The Court followed the rationale of *Shabani*, holding that the absence from the conspiracy provision of an express overt act requirement was determinative. *Salinas*, 522 U.S. at 64. And *Whitfield* reached the same conclusion with respect to the conspiracy offense established in a separate provision of the federal money laundering statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h). *Whitfield*, 543 U.S. at 213-215.

Section 1951(a) differs substantially from these standalone statutory provisions establishing separate conspiracy offenses. It instead creates a conspiracy offense through the inclusion of a two-word phrase (“or conspires”) in the sentence that establishes the substantive offense.

Thus, *Shabani*’s rationale does not apply. In the Hobbs Act, Congress did not choose the Sherman Act approach to defining conspiracy and thereby reject Section 371’s formulation. Rather, it used a different approach altogether: employing a two-word phrase that did not purport to define the contours of the

conspiracy offense but instead made clear only that Congress intended to create one. *Shabani's* framework, in which Congress chooses either the text of the Sherman Act or the structure of Section 371, does not account for the different statutory text that Congress employed in Section 1951(a).

Of course, Section 371's predecessor would have criminalized a Hobbs Act conspiracy even if Congress had omitted the phrase "or conspires" from Section 1951(a). But that does not render the phrase "or conspires" superfluous. By inserting a conspiracy provision into Section 1951(a), Congress ensured that the maximum penalty for a Hobbs Act conspiracy matched the twenty-year penalty that attaches to the underlying offense—a term of imprisonment significantly greater than the five-year maximum sentence that a conviction under Section 371 would carry.

This Court has recognized that Congress "does not alter the fundamental details of a regulatory scheme in vague terms or ancillary provisions—it does not, one might say, hide elephants in mouseholes." *Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass'ns*, 531 U.S. 457, 468 (2001). But that would be the consequence of upholding the Third Circuit's interpretation of the Hobbs Act here—imputing to Congress the intent to dispense with a well-established element of a federal conspiracy offense by adding an ambiguous two-word phrase.

Section 1951(a)'s passing mention of a conspiracy offense should not "be construed to frustrate a specific policy embodied" in the general federal conspiracy statute. *Massachusetts v. United States*, 333 U.S. 611, 635 (1948) (Jackson, J., dissenting). In light of accepted principles of statutory interpretation and the other relevant provisions of federal criminal law,

the meaning of Section 1951(a) is clear: in order to convict defendants of conspiracy to violate the provision, the government must allege and prove the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

**3. *The rule of lenity favors interpreting the provision to require proof of an overt act***

This Court recently reaffirmed that “[t]he rule of lenity requires ambiguous criminal laws to be interpreted in favor of the defendants subjected to them.” *United States v. Santos*, 553 U.S. 507, 514 (2008). “This venerable rule \* \* \* vindicates the fundamental principle that no citizen should be held accountable for a violation of a statute whose commands are uncertain, or subjected to punishment that is not clearly prescribed.” *Ibid.* Accord *Liparota v. United States*, 471 U.S. 419, 427 (1985); *United States v. U.S. Gypsum Co.*, 438 U.S. 422, 437 (1978); *United States v. Bass*, 404 U.S. 336, 347-49 (1971).

This principle is particularly relevant to conspiracy offenses. As the Court has repeatedly observed, conspiracy statutes poses a special risk to individual liberties. Justice Jackson famously warned that the “federal law of conspiracy” was an

elastic, sprawling and pervasive offense. Its history exemplifies the tendency of a principle to expand itself to the limit of its logic. The unavailing protest of courts against the growing habit to indict for conspiracy in lieu of prosecuting for the substantive offense itself, or in addition thereto, suggests that



loose practice as to this offense constitutes a serious threat to fairness in our administration of justice.

*Krulewitch v. United States*, 336 U.S. 440, 445-46 (1949) (Jackson, J., concurring in judgment) (internal quotation and footnotes omitted). Adopting Justice Jackson’s framework, the Court subsequently stated that “cases in this Court have repeatedly warned that we will view with disfavor attempts to broaden the already pervasive and wide-sweeping nets of conspiracy prosecutions.” *Grunewald v. United States*, 353 U.S. 391, 404 (1957).

Accordingly, the “[t]oo easy abuses to which a charge of conspiracy may be put” gives special weight to the rule of lenity in this case. *Von Moltke v. Gillies*, 332 U.S. 708, 727 (1948) (opinion of Frankfurter, J.); see also David B. Filvaroff, *Conspiracy and the First Amendment*, 121 U. Pa. L. Rev. 189, 193 (1972); Keven Jon Heller, Note, *Whatever Happened to Proof Beyond a Reasonable Doubt? Of Drug Conspiracies, Overt Acts, and United States v. Shabani*, 49 Stan. L. Rev. 111 (1996).

The Court’s rejection of the rule of lenity in *Shabani*, 513 U.S. at 17, rested on the Court’s determination that the statute there was in no way “ambiguous.” *Ibid.* Here, by contrast, “traditional canons of statutory construction” point in the opposite direction—indicating that the Hobbs Act *does* require an overt act requirement. *Ibid.* If ambiguity is found to exist, then the rule of lenity weighs heavily in favor of construing the statute to include an overt act requirement.

### C. The Question Presented Is Important and Frequently Recurring

The question presented is sufficiently important to warrant this Court's attention for three reasons.

*First*, the number of cases in which courts of appeals have addressed the existence of an overt act requirement for a Section 1951(a) conspiracy charge demonstrates that the question presented here arises with considerably frequency. That is not surprising given the large number of prosecutions under this statute: Hobbs Act violations were the lead charge in nearly 5,000 federal prosecutions since 2008. TRACFED, <http://tracfed.syr.edu/> (last visited Dec. 1, 2014). The annual number of such prosecutions increased 40% between 2008 and 2013. *Ibid.* And conspiracy charges are routinely included when multiple defendants are charged. Moreover, because these numbers track only cases where the Hobbs Act was the "lead charge," the data undercount the actual number of prosecutions.

*Second*, the statutory formulation used in the Hobbs Act—adding "or conspires" following the description of the substantive offense—has been employed by Congress in other federal criminal statutes. See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. § 1366(a) (conspiracy to damage the property of an energy facility); 18 U.S.C. § 2332 (conspiracy to use a weapon of mass destruction); 18 U.S.C. § 2339A(a) (conspiracy to provide material support to terrorists); 18 U.S.C. § 2339B(a)(1) (conspiracy to provide material support to designated foreign terrorist organizations); 50 U.S.C. § 1705(a) (criminalizing violations of certain emergency presidential orders).

Lower courts have reached conflicting conclusions in interpreting this language. For example, Section 2339B(a)(1) provides that “[w]hoever knowingly provides material support or resources to a foreign terrorist organization, or attempts *or conspires* to do so” is punishable by up to 15 years’ imprisonment. 18 U.S.C. § 2339B(a)(1) (emphasis added). In *United States v. El-Mezain*, 664 F.3d 467 (5th Cir. 2011), the Fifth Circuit stated that the “accurate[] \* \* \* parameters for a conviction” under Section 2339B(a)(1) included that “one of the conspirators knowingly committed at least one overt act.” *Id.* at 437 (internal quotation omitted). But other courts have held that the same language negates an overt act requirement. See *United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 140 n.30 (4th Cir. 2014) (“[P]roof of the commission of an overt act in a § 2339A conspiracy is not required by statute.”). Thus, resolving the overt act question here will provide needed guidance to the lower courts in interpreting parallel language in other criminal statutes.

*Third*, this Court has recognized repeatedly that questions regarding overt act requirements in conspiracy statutes are sufficiently important to merit its attention. See *Whitfield*, 543 U.S. 209; *Salinas*, 522 U.S. 52; *Shabani*, 513 U.S. 10. Indeed, this Court has long acknowledged the special gravity of resolving questions of criminal law, “where the accused, if found guilty, may be subjected to the most serious deprivations.” *Wolff v. McDonnell*, 418 U.S. 539, 567 (1974). In such cases, the “seriousness of criminal penalties” and the fact that such punishment “represents the moral condemnation of the community” make this Court’s attention especially appropriate. *United States v. Bass*, 404 U.S. 336, 348 (1971).

**CONCLUSION**

The petition should be granted.

Respectfully submitted.

THOMAS R. ASHLEY  
*50 Park Place*  
*Newark, NJ 07102*  
*(973) 623-0501*

EUGENE R. FIDELL  
*Yale Law School*  
*Supreme Court Clinic<sup>5</sup>*  
*127 Wall Street*  
*New Haven, CT 06511*  
*(203) 432-4992*

ANDREW J. PINCUS  
*Counsel of Record*  
CHARLES A. ROTHFELD  
MICHAEL B. KIMBERLY  
PAUL W. HUGHES  
*Mayer Brown LLP*  
*1999 K Street NW*  
*Washington, DC 20006*  
*(202) 263-3127*  
*apincus@*  
*mayerbrown.com*

*Counsel for Petitioner*

DECEMBER 2014

---

<sup>5</sup> The representation of petitioner by a clinic affiliated with Yale Law School does not reflect any institutional views of Yale Law School or Yale University.

## **APPENDIX**

1a

**Appendix A**

PRECEDENTIAL

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE  
THIRD CIRCUIT

No. 13-1464

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

RONALD SALAHUDDIN,

Appellant

No. 13-1751

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

SONNIE L. COOPER,

Appellant

On Appeal from the United States District Court for  
the District of New Jersey

(D. N.J. Nos. 3-10-cr-00104-001  
& 3-10-cr-00104-002)

District Judge: Honorable Freda L. Wolfson

Argued June 10, 2014

Before: FISHER, COWEN and TASHIMA,\*  
Circuit Judges.

(Filed: September 3, 2014)

---

\* The Honorable A. Wallace Tashima, Senior Circuit Judge for  
the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, sitting by designation.

Thomas R. Ashley, Esq. [argued]  
Ashley & Charles  
50 Park Place  
Suite 1400  
Newark, NJ 07102

Attorney for Appellant in No. 13-1464

Alan L. Zegas, Esq. [argued]  
552 Main Street  
Chatham, NJ 07928

Attorney for Appellant in No. 13-1751

Mark E. Coyne, Esq.  
David W. Feder, Esq. [argued]  
Office of United States Attorney 970 Broad Street  
Room 700  
Newark, NJ 07102

Attorneys for Appellee

## OPINION

FISHER, *Circuit Judge*.

Appellant Ronald Salahuddin (“Salahuddin”) was the Deputy Mayor for Public Safety in Newark, New Jersey. During his time in public office, he allegedly conspired to use his official position to obtain charitable and political contributions and to direct Newark demolition contracts to Appellant Sonnie Cooper (“Cooper”), with whom Salahuddin was allegedly in business. Salahuddin and Cooper were convicted of conspiring to extort under color of official right, in violation of the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a).

Salahuddin and Cooper each raise an array of issues on appeal, none of which overlap. Salahuddin raises issues with the jury instructions and the proofs required for conviction under the Hobbs Act. Cooper raises issues with the weight and sufficiency of the evidence supporting the jury verdict and the Government's alleged selective prosecution and outrageous conduct in its investigation and prosecution. We will affirm both Salahuddin's and Cooper's convictions.

I.

A.

Salahuddin was the Deputy Mayor for Public Safety in the City of Newark, New Jersey under the administration of then-Mayor Cory Booker. Cooper owned and operated a number of stores and businesses in Newark, including S. Cooper Brothers Trucking ("Cooper Brothers"), a demolition business. Cooper Brothers was qualified to receive demolition work from Newark under the city's minority set-aside policy, but was ineligible for other demolition work.

Evidence introduced at trial suggests that Salahuddin was a "silent partner" in Cooper's demolition business. In 2004, Salahuddin gave Cooper money and mortgaged his home and rental property so that Cooper Brothers could pledge sufficient collateral to obtain a performance bond that was a prerequisite for a garbage contract in Irvington, New Jersey. Salahuddin also served as a general indemnitor for the bond. These mortgages remained in effect through the time frame relevant to the conspiracy. Salahuddin gave money to Cooper for Cooper Brothers-related litigation and expenses.



Salahuddin helped Cooper generally in running the business and facilitated obtaining an overdue payment from the City of Newark soon after becoming Deputy Mayor. The two occasionally referred to one another as business partners. Salahuddin did not disclose his financial involvement with Cooper Brothers. Nor did Cooper disclose Salahuddin's involvement on licensing forms filed with the state on behalf of Cooper Brothers.

In July of 2006, Salahuddin met with Joseph Parlavecchio ("Parlavecchio"), a Newark political operative. Parlavecchio served as a consultant for several Newark demolition companies. One of these companies belonged to Nicholas Mazzocchi ("Mazzocchi"), a Newark businessman. Mazzocchi's company had retained Parlavecchio as a consultant to help obtain demolition work from Newark, because despite being the largest demolition contractor in New Jersey, Mazzocchi's company had not obtained demolition work from Newark for five years. Unbeknownst to Parlavecchio, Salahuddin, and Cooper, Mazzocchi was cooperating with the F.B.I. as an informant. He had agreed to work with the F.B.I. in April of 2006 – before this alleged conspiracy began – in order to avoid prosecution for bribery and tax-evasion. He recorded numerous meetings and telephone conversations with Salahuddin and Cooper. These recordings were introduced at trial and comprised the bulk of the evidence against the two.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Parlavecchio was involved in discussions leading to the alleged conspiracy in the beginning, but he was not charged as a member of the conspiracy.

Despite the fact that Salahuddin had no official power over the awarding of demolition contracts, Salahuddin and Parlavecchio discussed dividing the Newark demolition work between Mazzocchi, Cooper Brothers, and another demolition company for which Parlavecchio worked. Parlavecchio recounted the agreement that he and Salahuddin had discussed to Mazzocchi, stating that Mazzocchi could obtain demolition work in Newark from Salahuddin if he promised to give Cooper some work once in a while.

Mazzocchi met with Cooper individually and with both Cooper and Salahuddin several times. They solidified their understanding of the plan, whereby Salahuddin would use his political influence to steer demolition work to Mazzocchi, who would then give a piece of that work, or subcontract it, to Cooper. Mazzocchi and Cooper acknowledged the need for discretion, because Salahuddin was a “political guy.” SA 172. Salahuddin confirmed that he had the power to steer demolition work, stating: “I just tell people this is what we want and that’s the way, you know, it can happen.” SA 190. Salahuddin summarized the arrangement to Mazzocchi, stating: “I’ll take care of, you know, Newark. . . . You’ll be back in Newark. . . . And then, you two, when something comes down the pike, you can always call [Cooper] . . .” SA 202.

To effectuate the conspiracy, Salahuddin urged Newark’s Demolition Director Bob Minter – who had responsibility for awarding demolition contracts – to give work to Mazzocchi. Salahuddin told Minter that Mazzocchi was a “friend of the administration,” and Minter understood this to mean that he should give work to Mazzocchi. JA 1893-95.

Mazzocchi did offer some demolition work to Cooper. He paid Cooper for some demolition work done at a small carwash. After this work and payment, Salahuddin told Mazzocchi that “we, I appreciate it tremendously.” SA 217. A week after this carwash demolition work, Salahuddin agreed to help Mazzocchi collect on a past-due bill with the City of Newark, stating that his help was just part of their “working relationship.” SA 224. Additionally, Minter awarded two demolition jobs to Mazzocchi in 2007. Mazzocchi subcontracted some of the work on both of these jobs to Cooper. For one of them, Cooper was paid \$5,029. A day after depositing the check, Cooper wrote a check to Salahuddin for \$5,000 from the Cooper Brothers’ account. The memo line stated: “Repay of Cash Loan.” SA 148.

In addition to work contracted from the City of Newark, Salahuddin, Cooper, and Mazzocchi discussed prospective demolition work on the new arena for the New Jersey Devils hockey team. Salahuddin proposed that he would suggest to the Devils that Mazzocchi receive the demolition work. While Mazzocchi would get the majority of it, Mazzocchi would subcontract a significant portion of that work to Cooper. Salahuddin told Mazzocchi that Mazzocchi was going to “be the pilot” but “we [he and Cooper] just wanna be on the boat.” SA 240-41. Salahuddin tried to keep the Devils arena work private, rather than having a public bid process.

Salahuddin also sought and extracted political and charitable contributions from Mazzocchi to help him influence the demolition contracting process. He explained to Mazzocchi that if Mazzocchi supported these entities, Salahuddin could show other officials that Mazzocchi was helping the city. Mazzocchi made

several contributions during the time frame of the conspiracy. He spent \$5,000 on a donation to Newark Now – a nonprofit associated with Mayor Booker, \$3,000 to purchase a table at a fundraiser for Mayor Booker, \$1,000 for a golf outing for Empower Newark – a political action committee, and a total of \$3,000 on donations to Empower Newark. Salahuddin advised that Mazzocchi should conceal the source of some of his contributions by having the check come from a secretary or a family member.

B.

On February 18, 2010, a grand jury in Trenton, New Jersey returned a five-count indictment against Salahuddin and Cooper. In Count 1, both were charged with conspiracy to obstruct interstate commerce by extortion under color of official right in violation of the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a). In Count 2, both were charged with attempt to obstruct interstate commerce by extortion under color of official right in violation of the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a), 18 U.S.C. § 2. In Counts 3, 4 and 5, they were charged with violations of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(B) and 18 U.S.C. § 2 for knowingly and corruptly soliciting, demanding, accepting and agreeing to accept as bribes things of value to influence and reward Salahuddin's effort to steer Newark demolition contracts to Mazzocchi and Cooper. Count 3 related to contracts that Cooper received. Count 4 charged only Salahuddin for contributions Mazzocchi made at Salahuddin's behest. Count 5 related to the \$5,000 payment that Cooper made to Salahuddin shortly after being paid by Mazzocchi for subcontracted work.

Both Salahuddin and Cooper proceeded to trial, which began on September 7, 2011. The Government introduced recorded conversations involving Sala-

huddin and Cooper made by Mazzocchi, documentary evidence of business records and records of charitable donations, and witness testimony from Mazzocchi and several Newark officials. After the Government rested, Salahuddin called several character witnesses and testified himself. Cooper called no witnesses, but did examine Salahuddin. On October 14, 2011, the jury found Salahuddin and Cooper guilty on Count 1 – conspiracy to commit extortion under color of official right in violation of the Hobbs Act – and not guilty on the remaining counts.

Near the close of the Government’s case, Salahuddin and Cooper moved for judgment of acquittal under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 29. The District Court deferred ruling on the motion until after trial. In post-trial briefing, they reasserted their claims under Rule 29, requested a new trial under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 33, and challenged the verdict for insufficient jury instructions, selective prosecution, and outrageous government conduct. On July 19, 2012, the District Court denied the post-trial motions.

On February 11, 2013, the District Court sentenced Salahuddin to a term of imprisonment of one year and one day and two years of supervised release, and imposed a \$5,000 fine. On March 4, 2013, the District Court sentenced Cooper to a two-year term of supervised release, but no time in prison, and imposed a fine of \$3,000. Salahuddin and Cooper filed separate and timely notices of appeal.

## II.

The District Court had jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3231. We have appellate jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

## III.

Because Salahuddin and Cooper briefed their appeals separately and raise different issues, we will address them separately. We will address the challenges that Salahuddin raises to his conviction in Part III.A. We will address the challenges Cooper makes to his conviction in Part III.B. We note that Salahuddin joins all of Cooper's arguments, but Cooper has not done the same.

## A. Salahuddin

Salahuddin raises seven issues on appeal. Three of those issues implicate his theory that an overt act is required for a Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction, and we address them together in Part III.A.1. In Part III.A.2, we address Salahuddin's argument that the Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction required proof that a member of the conspiracy obtained benefits. We then address Salahuddin's argument that the conspiracy conviction cannot be sustained based upon Mazzocchi's charitable contributions in Part III.A.3. Finally, we address two issues challenging the jury instructions in Part III.A.4.

Salahuddin did not object to the jury instructions, and, with the exception of the argument that we address in Part III.A.2, he did not raise any of the arguments that he makes in this appeal before the District Court. Therefore, we review his arguments (except his argument that the Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction required proof that a member of the conspiracy obtained benefits) for plain error. In reviewing for plain error, we inquire whether there is "(1) an error; (2) that is plain; and (3) that affected substantial rights." *United States v. Dobson*, 419 F.3d 231, 236 (3d Cir. 2005). An error is plain "if the error

is ‘obvious’ or ‘clear under current law.’” *United States v. Vazquez*, 271 F.3d 93, 100 (3d Cir. 2001) (en banc) (quoting *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993)). If all three of these conditions are met, “an appellate court may in its discretion grant relief, but only if ‘the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of [the] judicial proceedings.’” *Dobson*, 419 F.3d at 236 (alteration in original) (quoting *United States v. Haywood*, 363 F.3d 200, 206-07 (3d Cir. 2004)).

## 1.

Salahuddin raises three issues that can be grouped together as a challenge to the Government’s failure to prove that one of the alleged co-conspirators committed an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy. He argues that the District Court erred in omitting an overt act requirement from its jury instructions and that the rule of lenity requires that his conviction be vacated. He also contends that because the indictment alleged overt acts, the Government’s failure to prove these acts constructively amended the indictment. Because Salahuddin failed to object to the jury instructions or raise the constructive amendment issue before the District Court, we review these arguments for plain error. *See United States v. Duka*, 671 F.3d 329, 352 (3d Cir. 2011) (applying plain error review to an unpreserved constructive amendment issue); *United States v. Bansal*, 663 F.3d 634, 643 (3d Cir. 2011) (applying plain error review to an unpreserved statutory interpretation issue); *United States v. W. Indies Transport, Inc.*, 127 F.3d 299, 310 (3d Cir. 1997) (applying plain error review to an unpreserved jury instruction issue).

To address Salahuddin’s specific arguments, we must first determine whether an overt act is a re-

quired element of Hobbs Act conspiracy. Our Court has not yet ruled on this issue. We look to the Supreme Court's opinions in *United States v. Shabani*, 513 U.S. 10 (1994), and *Whitfield v. United States*, 543 U.S. 209 (2005), as the appropriate framework to use in making this determination. Both cases applied principles of statutory construction to conclude that an overt act was not required under the relevant conspiracy statutes, as the statutory language was silent as to an overt act. In *Shabani*, the Supreme Court considered the drug conspiracy statute, 21 U.S.C. § 846. 513 U.S. at 11. In *Whitfield*, the Court addressed conspiracy to commit money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h). 543 U.S. at 211.

In prior cases involving conspiracy provisions, the *Whitfield* Court observed, “where Congress had omitted from the relevant conspiracy provision any language expressly requiring an overt act, the Court would not read such a requirement into the statute.” *Whitfield*, 543 U.S. at 213; *see also Singer v. United States*, 323 U.S. 338, 340 (1945) (concluding that the Selective Service Act does not require an overt act for the conspiracy offense); *Nash v. United States*, 229 U.S. 373, 378 (1913) (concluding that the Sherman Act does not require an overt act for antitrust conspiracy liability). Absent an indication otherwise, we presume that “Congress intends to adopt the common law definition of statutory terms,” and the common law understanding of conspiracy does not require an overt act for liability. *Shabani*, 513 U.S. at 13. The general conspiracy statute, 18 U.S.C. § 371, which “preceded and presumably provided the framework” for later conspiracy statutes, expressly includes an overt-act requirement. *id.* at 14. With this in mind, the *Whitfield* Court distilled the following rule: if a statutory text is modeled on § 371, the



general conspiracy statute, “it gets an overt-act requirement,” but if it is modeled on the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, which omits any express overt-act requirement, “it dispenses with such a requirement.” *id.* at 14 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *United States v. Sassi*, 966 F.2d 283, 284 (7th Cir. 1992)).

Salahuddin contends that *Whitfield* does not apply because its principle can only be invoked when the statutory text is plain and unambiguous, and the Hobbs Act, he maintains, is not. But the Supreme Court did not establish that a statute must be plain and unambiguous as a precondition to the application of its test in *Whitfield*; instead, it merely rejected petitioners’ invitation to look at the statute’s legislative history because the statute was plain and unambiguous. *id.* at 215. More importantly, *Whitfield* is only the last in a line of Supreme Court decisions applying the principle that when a conspiracy statute is silent as to whether an overt act is required, there is no such requirement. Previous cases did not make a determination that a statute is plain and unambiguous a prerequisite to the application of the principles of these cases. Furthermore, the conspiracy provision in § 1951 as it relates to an overt-act requirement is plain and unambiguous. The portions of the Hobbs Act that have been characterized as less than clear were distinct from the conspiracy provision at issue here. See *United States v. Manzo*, 636 F.3d 56, 62 (3d Cir. 2011) (“The scope of the term ‘under color of official right’ is not readily apparent from the face of the statute.”). And finally, we have previously applied *Whitfield* to another conspiracy statute to determine whether it required an overt act, without first inquiring whether the statute was plain and unambiguous. See *United States v. Full-*

*mer*, 584 F.3d 132, 160 n.13 (3d Cir. 2009) (applying *Whitfield* to the Animal Enterprise Protection Act to conclude that the language of the statute did not require an overt act, even though the district court had required it in its charge on conspiracy).

Applying *Shabani* and *Whitfield* here leads to the conclusion that Hobbs Act conspiracy under § 1951 does not require an overt act. Section 1951(a) provides:

Whoever in any way or degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in commerce, by robbery or extortion or attempts or conspires so to do, or commits or threatens physical violence to any person or property in furtherance of a plan or purpose to do anything in violation of this section shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both.

18 U.S.C. § 1951(a). This language is similar to the statutory language for conspiracy to commit money laundering – the crime at issue in *Whitfield* – which provides that “[a]ny person who conspires to commit any offense defined in [§§ 1956 or 1957] shall be subject to the same penalties . . . .” 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h). Neither mentions anything about an overt act, unlike § 371, which provides for conviction of conspiracy “[i]f two or more persons conspire [] to commit any offense against the United States . . . and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy . . . .” 18 U.S.C. § 371 (emphasis added). Conspiracy under the Hobbs Act, like § 1956(h) but unlike § 371, makes no mention of a required act. Therefore we decline to read in an overt-act requirement.

Salahuddin urges that language in two decisions by this Circuit supports the conclusion that an overt act is required. In *Manzo*, 636 F.3d at 68, and *United States v. Jannotti*, 673 F.2d 578 (3d Cir. 1982), both addressing Hobbs Act conspiracy, we mentioned “the principle that ‘[a]ll that was necessary, in addition to an overt act, was that the intended future conduct they had agreed upon include[d] all the elements of the substantive crime.’” *Manzo*, 636 F.3d at 68 (alterations in original) (quoting *Jannotti*, 673 F.2d at 593). This language originates from a case out of the Seventh Circuit, *United States v. Rose*, 590 F.2d 232, 235 (7th Cir. 1978), which dealt not with Hobbs Act conspiracy, but with burglary conspiracy. We, perhaps carelessly, allowed this language to creep in through a citation to *Rose* in the context of considering issues wholly unrelated to whether an overt act is required for Hobbs Act conspiracy. The statements in these cases regarding an overt act were dicta, as they did not consider the issue of whether an overt act is required for Hobbs Act conspiracy, discuss it at any length, or hold that it was required.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, *Manzo* and *Jannotti* did not hold and do not establish that an overt act is required for Hobbs Act conspiracy in this Circuit.

---

<sup>2</sup> This Court has defined dictum as “a statement in a judicial opinion that could have been deleted without seriously impairing the analytical foundations of the holding – that, being peripheral, may not have received the full and careful consideration of the court that uttered it.” *In re McDonald*, 205 F.3d 606, 612 (3d Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *Sarnoff v. Am. Home Prods. Corp.*, 798 F.2d 1075, 1084 (7th Cir. 1986)). Whether an overt act was required for Hobbs Act conspiracy was not at issue in either case, so the statements could easily have been deleted from both without impairing their holdings.

Several of our sister Circuits have already weighed in on whether an overt act is required for Hobbs Act conspiracy. Today, we join the First, Second, and Eleventh Circuits, which have held that an overt act is not a required element of Hobbs Act conspiracy.<sup>3</sup> See *United States v. Monserrate-Valentin*, 729 F.3d 31, 62 (1st Cir. 2013) (“[A] Hobbs Act conspiracy does not require proof of an overt act. Therefore, the district court did not err in declining to include the overt acts listed in the indictment as part of its instructions.”); *United States v. Pistone*, 177 F.3d 957, 960 (11th Cir. 1999) (relying upon *Shabani* to conclude that “the government is not required to allege and prove an overt act in a prosecution for conspiracy to obstruct commerce in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951”); *United States v. Clemente*, 22 F.3d 477, 480 (2d Cir. 1994) (“In order to establish a Hobbs Act conspiracy, the government does not have to prove any overt act.”). The Fifth Circuit requires an overt act for Hobbs Act conspiracy.<sup>4</sup> See *United States v.*

---

<sup>3</sup> We note that the Fourth Circuit has recently indicated that proof of an overt act is not required for a Hobbs Act conspiracy. See *United States v. Ocasio*, 750 F.3d 399, 409 n.12 (4th Cir. 2014).

<sup>4</sup> Salahuddin maintains that the Sixth, Seventh, and Ninth Circuits also require an overt act for Hobbs Act conspiracy. However, the cases upon which he relies do not actually decide the issue. See *United States v. Corson*, 579 F.3d 804, 810 n. † (7th Cir. 2009) (observing the circuit split on the overt act requirement but declining to consider “whether proof of an overt act was required in this case” because the defendants did not appeal on that ground); *United States v. Nelson*, 66 F.3d 1036, 1044 (9th Cir. 1995) (observing that an overt act is required, but in a case dealing with money laundering conspiracy, not Hobbs Act conspiracy); *United States v. Uselton*, 974 F.2d 1339 (6th Cir. 1992) (*per curiam*) (unpublished table decision) (observing, in a case raising a double jeopardy challenge only, that

*Box*, 50 F.3d 345, 349 (5th Cir. 1995). However, the Fifth Circuit has not examined the overt-act requirement under the principles set forth in *Shabani* and *Whitfield*.

We conclude that proof of an overt act is not required for conviction of Hobbs Act conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a). Therefore, the District Court did not err, let alone plainly err, in leaving such a requirement out of the jury instructions. We also decline Salahuddin’s request to apply the rule of lenity. The rule of lenity applies when “there is a ‘grievous ambiguity or uncertainty in the statute.’” *Muscarello v. United States*, 524 U.S. 125, 139 (1998) (quoting *Staples v. United States*, 511 U.S. 600, 619, n.17 (1994)). It “applies only if, after seizing everything from which aid can be derived, we can make no more than a guess as to what Congress intended.” *id.* (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted). Applying the principles set forth in *Shabani* and *Whitfield*, the language of the statute plainly indicates that an overt act is not required for Hobbs Act conspiracy. Therefore, this is not an occasion to apply the rule of lenity.

Finally, we address Salahuddin’s contention that the failure to require proof of an overt act in the jury instructions constructively amended the indictment. He maintains that Count 1 of the indictment listed several “objects” of the conspiracy, and by dispensing with the Government’s need to prove the overt acts allegedly charged as “objects,” he was convicted on an alternate or expanded basis from that charged in

---

the indictment count for Hobbs Act conspiracy included overt acts).

the indictment. “An indictment is constructively amended when evidence, arguments, or the district court’s jury instructions effectively ‘amend[s] the indictment by broadening the possible bases for conviction from that which appeared in the indictment.’” *United States v. McKee*, 506 F.3d 225, 229 (3d Cir. 2007) (alterations in original) (quoting *United States v. Lee*, 359 F.3d 194, 208 (3d Cir. 2004)). Even assuming that these “objects” listed in the indictment were alleged overt acts – which the Government disputes – because we hold that proof of an overt act is not required for a Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction, the indictment was not constructively amended. The Government was not required to prove and the jury was not required to find that any overt acts occurred, so the failure to prove the alleged acts in the indictment did not “broaden[] the possible bases for conviction from that which appeared in the indictment.” *McKee*, 506 F.3d at 229 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Because we hold that the statute imposes no overt act requirement for a Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction, we reject Salahuddin’s arguments resting upon the theory that proof of an overt act was required for his conviction.

## 2.

Salahuddin contends that for a valid Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction, the jury must find that the defendant obtained something of value from the victim, which is a requirement of extortion. Because he was acquitted of the substantive bribery charges, which alleged several things of value that he extorted under color of official right, he argues that the jury necessarily found that he did not obtain anything of value and his conviction for conspiracy cannot stand.

We exercise plenary review. *United States v. Introcaso*, 506 F.3d 260, 264 n.3 (3d Cir. 2007).

Salahuddin’s argument misunderstands the requirements for inchoate offenses. He claims that because elements of the substantive offense were lacking, the inchoate offense of conspiracy must necessarily be lacking also. But the substantive and inchoate offenses are separate crimes requiring different proof. “Traditionally the law has considered conspiracy and the completed substantive offense to be separate crimes.” *Iannelli v. United States*, 420 U.S. 770, 777 (1975). “Conspiracy is an inchoate offense, the essence of which is an agreement to commit an unlawful act.” *id.* “Because an agreement between two or more persons to commit criminal acts poses, in and of itself, a serious danger to social order, it is proscribed by the law of conspiracy.” *Jannotti*, 673 F.2d at 591. The goal of the conspiracy – here, obtaining something of value under color of official right – need not be achieved for a conspiracy conviction. “The ultimate failure of the conspiracy may diminish, but does not eliminate, the threat it poses to social order; therefore, the illegality of the agreement does not depend on the achievement of its ends.” *Id.*

Salahuddin relies upon our opinion in *Manzo* in support of his argument,<sup>5</sup> but that case cannot be

---

<sup>5</sup> Salahuddin also relies upon the Supreme Court’s decision in *Scheidler v. National Organization for Women, Inc.*, 537 U.S. 393 (2003). In *Scheidler*, the Supreme Court held that “[b]ecause petitioners did not obtain or attempt to obtain respondents’ property,” there could be no basis for Hobbs Act extortion claims, state extortion claims, or claims of conspiring or attempting to extort. *Id.* at 410. *Scheidler* focused on the nature of the claimed property rights in finding no extortion.

read to support the contention that proof that the defendant successfully obtained benefits is required for a Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction. In *Manzo*, we considered whether acting “under color of official right” was a required element of the inchoate Hobbs Act extortion offenses. 636 F.3d at 59. We concluded that acting “under color of official right” was required even for the inchoate offenses because it is a necessary status element of any Hobbs Act violation that does not involve threatened force, violence or fear. *id.* at 66-67. We acknowledged that “the government need not prove every substantive element of an offense to establish an inchoate offense,” *id.* at 66, but “[a] Hobbs Act inchoate offense prohibits a person acting ‘under color of official right’ from attempting or conspiring to use his or her public office in exchange for payments,” *id.* at 68-69. “To sustain an ‘under color of official right’ Hobbs Act charge [where defendants were not public officials or holding themselves out as such] would create a legal alchemy with the power to transform any gap in the facts into a

---

The respondents maintained that the petitioners sought to obtain “a woman’s right to seek medical services from a clinic, the right of the doctors, nurses or other clinic staff to perform their jobs, and the right of the clinics to provide medical services free from wrongful threats, violence, coercion and fear.” *Id.* at 400-01. The Court concluded that although the petitioners may have deprived the respondents of these property rights, they did not acquire the property, because the nature of the property rights rendered them incapable of being “obtained,” which was necessary to commit extortion under the Hobbs Act. *Id.* at 405. The claimed property rights here –business, charitable contributions, and money – are of a very different nature than those claimed in *Scheidler*. They are capable of being acquired and therefore do not present the same problems as the property rights at issue in *Scheidler*.



cohesive extortion charge . . . .” *id.* at 69 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Key to the determination that the government was required to prove “under color of official right” for inchoate Hobbs Act offenses was the conclusion that it was a “status element.” Proving that a defendant successfully obtained benefits is not a status element. Obtaining benefits is the desired outcome, object, or goal of the extortion. Indeed, successfully obtaining benefits in many instances completes the extortion. We observed in *Manzo* that “a Hobbs Act conspiracy charge does not even require that ‘the ends of the conspiracy were from the very inception of the agreement objectively [] attainable.’” *id.* at 66 (alteration in original) (quoting *United States v. Hsu*, 155 F.3d 189, 203 (3d Cir. 1998)). If it is not even required that the ends of the conspiracy be *attainable*, it is surely not required that they actually be *achieved*.

Requiring the government to prove that Salahuddin successfully obtained benefits would go much further than what is required under conspiracy law. It is the illegal agreement that is criminalized in Hobbs Act conspiracy; the actual completion of the agreed-upon venture is immaterial. We therefore reject Salahuddin’s contention that the jury was required to find that he obtained benefits and that the acquittal on the substantive extortion counts undermines his conspiracy conviction.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> Salahuddin argues that the acquittals on the substantive extortion counts result in a “legal insufficiency” or lack of requisite “crystallization” of criminal intent for Hobbs Act conspiracy. *Salahuddin Br.*, at 36 & n.10. But bribery – of which he was acquitted – and Hobbs Act conspiracy have different elements and are charged under different statutes. Even if the

Salahuddin raises two issues with his conviction's foundation upon Mazzocchi's charitable and political contributions to Newark Now, Empower Newark, and then-Mayor Booker. He argues first that the Government was required to allege in the indictment that these entities were "acting in concert" with Salahuddin. Second, he argues that the District Court erred in failing to instruct the jury that for the conviction to be based upon charitable contributions – to Newark Now and Empower Newark – it must find that there was an explicit quid pro quo agreement.

Salahuddin failed to preserve these issues below. "[I]ndictments which are tardily challenged are liberally constructed in favor of validity." *United States v. Vitillo*, 490 F.3d 314, 324 (3d Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *United States v. Wander*, 601 F.2d 1251, 1259 (3d Cir. 1979)). We will uphold the indictment "unless it is so defective that it does not, by any reasonable construction, charge an offense" under the relevant criminal statute. *id.* (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *United States v. Childress*, 58 F.3d 693, 720 (D.C. Cir. 1995)). We review Salahuddin's objections to the jury instructions issued by the District Court for plain error. *Dobson*, 419 F.3d at 236.

---

verdicts were inconsistent, we could not review them, as the Supreme Court made inconsistent verdicts "unreviewable." *United States v. Powell*, 469 U.S. 57, 63 (1984). A defendant cannot "challenge an inconsistent verdict involving a conviction of a conspiracy and an acquittal on a predicate act." *United States v. Maury*, 695 F.3d 227, 264 (3d Cir. 2012).

With respect to his first argument, Salahuddin relies primarily upon the Third Circuit’s Model Criminal Jury Instructions. They provide: “The government may show that the benefit was meant to be given to the public official directly, or to a third party who is not a public official but who was *acting in concert* with the public official.” 3d Cir. Model Crim. Jury Instr. § 6.18.1951-6 (emphasis added). The District Court charged the jury using this exact language, including the “acting in concert” requirement. See JA 2985. While it is far from clear that our case law imposes an “acting in concert” requirement, to the extent that there is, the jury instructions complied.<sup>7</sup>

While the indictment does not use the specific “acting in concert” language, it can be fairly read to imply that Salahuddin acted in concert with the Newark officials raising funds for these charities. The indictment stated that as a part of the conspiracy, “Salahuddin solicited and accepted contributions to organizations supported by City of Newark offi-

---

<sup>7</sup> Although the model jury instruction includes this language, the Third Circuit cases cited in the comment do not address an “acting in concert” situation, as they involved direct payments. See *United States v. Antico*, 275 F.3d 245 (3d Cir. 2001) (declining to apply an explicit *quid pro quo* requirement in a case that involved direct payments to the official); *United States v. Bradley*, 173 F.3d 225 (3d Cir. 1999) (declining to apply an explicit *quid pro quo* requirement in a case involving direct payments to the public official and his defendant-girlfriend, without discussion of “acting in concert”). Insofar as we need not – and do not – decide this issue of an “acting in concert” requirement to dispose of Salahuddin’s appeal, our opinion here should not be read as holding that there is an “acting in concert” requirement when the benefit is given to a third party.

cial from [Mazzocchi], which defendant Salahuddin claimed would further enable him to secure demolition work and other valuable benefits for [Mazzocchi] and [his] company.” JA 6-7. Challenged at this tardy stage and on review for plain error, we cannot say that the indictment’s language is “so defective that it does not, by any reasonable construction, charge” that Salahuddin was “acting in concert” with the charitable organizations receiving Mazzocchi’s donations.

Salahuddin argues second that the jury was required to find an explicit *quid pro quo* arrangement for the charitable contributions sought from Mazzocchi, and the District Court erred in failing to instruct the jury as such.<sup>8</sup> We have previously rejected attempts to require an explicit *quid pro quo* arrangement outside of the campaign contribution context. *See Bradley*, 173 F.3d at 232 (approving an instruction without an explicit *quid pro quo* requirement because “a conclusion that in a Hobbs Act case the government has to demonstrate that the public official made an express promise to perform a particular act and that ‘knowing winks and nods’ are not sufficient would frustrate the act’s effect” (quoting *United States v. Evans*, 504 U.S. 255, 274 (1992))). As neither the Supreme Court nor this Court requires an explicit *quid pro quo* for non-campaign charitable contributions – such as those to Empower Newark and Newark NOW – the District Court can-

---

<sup>8</sup> He also argues that his conviction cannot stand because he did not receive any benefits from the charitable contributions. But as discussed in Part III.A.2 above, successfully obtaining benefits is not required for a Hobbs Act conspiracy conviction.

not have plainly erred in failing to instruct the jury as such.<sup>9</sup>

The District Court instructed the jury as follows: “[T]he government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the public official knowingly and willfully, as those terms are defined later in these instructions, used his official position in order to obtain something of value to which he had no right.” JA 2985. Under the Supreme Court’s precedent in *Evans*, “the Government need only show that a public official has obtained a payment to which he was not entitled, knowing that the payment was made in return for official acts.” 504 U.S. at 268. As the jury instructions followed this precedent, the District Court did not plainly err.

## 4.

Salahuddin raises issues with two other aspects of the jury instructions. He argues that the District

---

<sup>9</sup> An *explicit quid pro quo* is required for extortion based upon campaign contributions. *McCormick v. United States*, 500 U.S. 257, 273 (1991). The District Court did instruct the jury that in the context of political contributions:

[I]f a particular defendant as a public official solicits, receives, obtains, or accepts a political contribution knowing that it is given in exchange for an *explicit promise* or understanding by the official to perform or not to perform a specific official act or course of official action, then that defendant has committed extortion under color of official right and bribery.

JA 2987-88. This instruction complies with the applicable precedent with respect to Mazzocchi’s contribution to a fundraiser for then-Mayor Booker.

Court erred in failing to instruct the jury that it must unanimously decide which one of the “objects” of the conspiracy the defendants agreed to pursue. He also argues that the District Court erred in failing adequately to define “extortion under color of official right” in the jury instructions on Hobbs Act conspiracy. As Salahuddin failed to object to the jury instructions before the District Court or submit an instruction of his own, we review these claims for plain error. *Dobson*, 419 F.3d at 236.

With respect to the unanimity instruction, Salahuddin maintains that the District Court ought to have augmented – *sua sponte* – the general unanimity instruction to ensure that the jury understood that it must unanimously agree to facts supporting at least one object of the conspiracy. The “objects” of the conspiracy, according to the indictment, were to obtain money and benefits, including demolition business and contributions, through Salahuddin’s position. These “objects” are simply the benefits that the conspirators sought to obtain through their agreement.

Salahuddin looks to our decision in *United States v. Beros*, 833 F.2d 455 (3d Cir. 1987), in support of his contention. In *Beros*, we determined that the general unanimity instruction did not suffice where the defendant had been charged in the indictment with numerous acts, each of which could constitute a violation of the relevant statute. *id.* at 461. Because in theory, twelve jurors could have agreed that the defendant violated the statute but with each juror predicating his or her conclusion upon different acts, the jurors ought to have been instructed that they must unanimously agree as to which specific act or acts supported his guilt. *id.* at 461-62. *Beros* is dis-

tinguishable from Salahuddin's case for several reasons. First of all, there is a difference between the multiple alleged acts which could each constitute an offense in *Beros*, and the multiple alleged *benefits* which the defendants allegedly sought to obtain through the conspiracy here. Because the specific benefits that the members of the conspiracy sought to obtain is not a required element of Hobbs Act conspiracy, the jury need not have been specifically instructed as to unanimity in this regard. See, e.g., *United States v. Wise*, 515 F.3d 207, 214 (3d Cir. 2008) (“[T]he jury was not required to unanimously agree on the type of weapon that [the defendant] possessed, because a specific type of firearm is not an element of a violation under 18 U.S.C. § 924-(c)(1)(A).”). Conspiracy seeks to punish only the *act* of agreeing to commit an offense, so the jury verdict only needs to be unanimous as to that act, not as to the multiple benefits that the defendants allegedly sought to obtain by entering into the agreement. See *Shabani*, 513 U.S. at 16 (“[T]he criminal agreement itself is the *actus reus* . . .”). *Beros* is further distinguishable because the defendant in *Beros* had preserved the issue of the unanimity instruction in the district court below, whereas here, we are conducting plain error review. *Beros*, 833 F.2d at 463. We conclude that the District Court did not err, let alone plainly err, in failing to issue a specific unanimity instruction *sua sponte*.

Turning to the District Court's jury instructions on the meaning of the substantive Hobbs Act offense, Salahuddin asserts that the District Court erred by failing to define “extortion under color of official right” in the instructions as to the Hobbs Act conspiracy offense. The District Court instructed the jury that for the Hobbs Act conspiracy count:

The government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that two or more persons knowingly and intentionally arrived at a mutual understanding or agreement, either spoken or unspoken, to work together to achieve the overall objective of the conspiracy, in sum, to obtain payments and other valuable benefits by extortion under color of official right, as *I will describe for you later in these instructions*.

JA 2976-77 (emphasis added). Moments later, in recounting the instructions on the Hobbs Act attempt charge, the District Court further instructed:

Extortion under color of official right means that a public official induced, obtained, accepted, or agreed to accept a payment or valuable benefit to which he was not entitled knowing that the payment or valuable payment accepted or to be accepted was made in return for taking, withholding, or influencing official acts.

JA 2984-85. This instruction tracks the Third Circuit's Model Criminal Jury instructions and adequately defines the relevant terms under the governing case law. *See United States v. Urban*, 404 F.3d 754, 768 (3d Cir. 2005) ("In order to prove Hobbs Act extortion 'under color of official right,' 'the Government need only show that a public official has obtained a payment to which he was not entitled, knowing that the payment was made in return for official acts.'" (quoting *Evans*, 504 U.S. at 268)). The few moments of delay before the jury was fully and properly instructed on the meaning of "extortion under color of official right" do not constitute plain error.



## B. Cooper

Cooper raises four issues on appeal. We address in Part III.B.1 Cooper's argument that the jury's guilty verdict was against the weight of the evidence. In Part III.B.2, we address his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence. Finally, we address his contention that the District Court erred in denying his motion to vacate his conviction and dismiss the indictment on account of the Government's alleged selective prosecution and outrageous conduct in Part III.B.3.

## 1.

Cooper contends that the jury's guilty verdict as to the Hobbs Act conspiracy charge is against the weight of the evidence. He first made the arguments supporting this contention before the District Court in a motion for a new trial under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 33. Under this rule, the district court "may vacate any judgment and grant a new trial if the interest of justice so requires." Fed. R. Crim. P. 33(a). "A district court can order a new trial on the ground that the jury's verdict is contrary to the weight of evidence only if it 'believes that there is a serious danger that a miscarriage of justice has occurred – that is, that an innocent person has been convicted.'" *United States v. Johnson*, 302 F.3d 139, 150 (3d Cir. 2002) (quoting *United States v. Santos*, 20 F.3d 280, 285 (7th Cir. 1994)). "Thus, [m]otions for a new trial based on the weight of the evidence are not favored. Such motions are to be granted sparingly and only in exceptional cases." *United States v. Brennan*, 326 F.3d 176, 189 (3d Cir. 2003) (alteration in original) (quoting *Gov't of V. I. v. Derricks*, 819 F.2d 50, 55 (3d Cir. 1987)). When evaluating a Rule 33 motion, the district court "does not view the evi-

dence favorably to the Government, but instead exercises its own judgment in assessing the Government's case." *Johnson*, 302 F.3d at 150.

The District Court denied Cooper's Rule 33 motion after thoroughly examining his arguments and the evidence supporting the conspiracy conviction. The District Court concluded that the evidence supported the jury's finding and many of Cooper's arguments were more properly made to a jury. We review a district court's denial of a Rule 33 motion for abuse of discretion. *Brennan*, 326 F.3d at 189.

Cooper's arguments that the jury's verdict was against the weight of the evidence can be categorized into two groups: (1) challenges to Mazzocchi's trial testimony as biased, false, and contradictory; (2) alleged failures in the Government's evidence presented at trial that undermine the jury's verdict. The District Court carefully evaluated all of Cooper's contentions, which he repeats on appeal. We have reviewed the evidence presented at trial alongside Cooper's arguments, and conclude that the District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Cooper's motion.

The majority of Cooper's arguments amount to challenges to Mazzocchi's credibility and motives. He argues that Mazzocchi gave false and inconsistent testimony and manufactured the conspiracy as reflected in the recordings. We can entirely reject these arguments, as the jury was made aware – through cross-examination, closing arguments, and the jury

instructions<sup>10</sup> – of Mazzocchi’s motivations, potential bias, and inconsistent testimony. Equipped with this knowledge, it was the jury’s responsibility to decide whether or not to believe Mazzocchi’s testimony.

In suggesting that Mazzocchi’s testimony could not be believed, and therefore the verdict was against the weight of the evidence, Cooper points to numerous alleged inconsistencies in Mazzocchi’s testimony.<sup>11</sup> But many of these claimed inconsistencies are minor or more ambiguous than Cooper makes them out to be. Mazzocchi’s testimony described numerous meetings, conversations, and transactions between himself and the defendants, it was lengthy,

---

<sup>10</sup> The District Court instructed the jury:

Cooperating witness testimony was received in evidence and may be considered by you. The government is permitted to present the testimony of someone who has received a promise from the government that he will not be prosecuted and who has received a promise from the government that his testimony will not be used against him in a criminal case, but you should consider that witness’ testimony with great care and caution. In evaluating his testimony, you should consider this factor along with the others I have called to your attention. Whether or not Mr. Mazzocchi’s testimony may have been influenced by the government’s promises is for you to determine. You may give his testimony such weight as you think it deserves.

JA 3014-15.

<sup>11</sup> For example, Cooper observes that Mazzocchi first testified that Salahuddin introduced him to Cooper. He then admitted that was not the case, he had been introduced to Cooper by Parlavecchio. Cooper also contends that Mazzocchi contradicted himself by first acknowledging that he wished to gain access to business Cooper obtained through minority set-aside contracts but then stating that the plan the whole time was to use Salahuddin’s influence to obtain business.

and it was subject to cross-examination by counsel for both Salahuddin and Cooper. Some minor contradiction or confusion is understandable. Even if the inconsistencies were more glaring than they appear to be, “[a] jury is free to believe part of a witness’ testimony and disbelieve another part of it.” *United States v. Boone*, 279 F.3d 163, 189 (3d Cir. 2002). It was the jury’s responsibility to weigh Mazzocchi’s credibility considering his entire testimony, including the alleged inconsistencies.

Contrary to Cooper’s arguments, Mazzocchi’s testimony was not the Government’s only evidence of the conspiracy. Much of the evidence against Cooper and Salahuddin came from their own mouths, through recorded conversations. Therefore, any inconsistencies and credibility issues with Mazzocchi’s testimony do not render the jury verdict against the weight of the evidence.

The remainder of Cooper’s arguments implicate isolated pieces of evidence presented at trial, which he believes undermine the Government’s proof of the elements of the conspiracy. Through these arguments, Cooper asks us to look one-sidedly at small, isolated portions of the record to conclude that the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. But when each instance he raises is placed in the proper context, it becomes clear that ample evidence – albeit sometimes circumstantial – supported the conspiracy.

To the extent that Cooper challenges the lack of direct evidence against him, that argument fails. While there may not have been direct evidence of a quid pro quo, the evidence of bribery and the unlawful nature of their agreement could be proven circumstantially. *McKee*, 506 F.3d at 238 (“[A] conspira-

torial agreement can be proven circumstantially based upon reasonable inferences drawn from actions and statements of the conspirators or from the circumstances surrounding the scheme.”).

Cooper suggests that Mazzocchi’s admission that he paid Cooper a fair price for legitimate work that was completed undermines the jury’s finding of a conspiracy. But as the District Court observed, “[t]he issue is not how much Cooper was paid for his work, but how he received the work in the first place.” *United States v. Salahuddin*, No. 10-104, 2012 WL 2952436, at \*14 (D.N.J. July 19, 2012). Similarly, Cooper suggests that his ambivalence about whether Mazzocchi paid him with cash or a check and his lack of effort to conceal the \$5,000 payment he made to Salahuddin show that he did not have the intent to commit extortion. The jury was free to make this inference; however, there was ample evidence indicating that Cooper wished to join the conspiracy and conceal other aspects of his relationship with Salahuddin. For instance, Cooper stated of Salahuddin, “he’s a political guy so he can’t get involved” in Mazzocchi’s subcontracting work to Cooper. SA 172. And while Cooper argues that their relationship merely indicated that they were close friends, the jury was free to credit circumstantial evidence indicating a concealed business relationship instead.

Cooper contends that Salahuddin’s openness in his attempts to push Mazzocchi for city demolition contracts demonstrates a lack of illicit purpose. But the jury could infer that because Salahuddin did not have any actual authority over demolition contracts, he had to use Mazzocchi’s name in urging those who controlled the process to award them to Mazzocchi.

The illicit purpose is supported by Salahuddin's failure to reveal Mazzocchi's arrangement to subcontract work to Cooper and his own connection to Cooper.

Cooper argues that the conspiracy conviction is undermined because Salahuddin told Mazzocchi that he did not need to subcontract work on one particular job to Cooper, stating that Mazzocchi could "do something for him" if he could, but if he could not "on this one, don't worry about it." SA 303. But the jury could also construe this conversation, along with the discussions of the other work the defendants and Mazzocchi hoped to obtain, as showing that their relationship was an ongoing one. It could conclude that Mazzocchi did not need to subcontract to Cooper on this smaller job because there were bigger ones coming down the pipeline.

Ultimately, the arguments that Cooper makes do not come close to suggesting "that there is a serious danger that a miscarriage of justice has occurred." *Johnson*, 302 F.3d at 150 (internal quotation marks omitted). His arguments about credibility and challenges to portions of the Government's evidence were made to the jury, who were free to reject them. We conclude that the District Court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Cooper's arguments that the jury's verdict was against the weight of the evidence and denying his motion for a new trial.

2.

Cooper argues next that the District Court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 29. He maintains that there was insufficient evidence presented to the jury to allow them to find that the Govern-

ment had sustained its burden of proving each element of the alleged conspiracy. The District Court denied Cooper's motion.

"We exercise plenary review over a district court's grant or denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the sufficiency of the evidence, applying the same standard as the district court." *United States v. Starnes*, 583 F.3d 196, 206 (3d Cir. 2009). We "review the record in the light most favorable to the prosecution to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found proof of guilt[] beyond a reasonable doubt based on the available evidence." *United States v. Brodie*, 403 F.3d 123, 133 (3d Cir. 2005) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *United States v. Smith*, 294 F.3d 473, 476 (3d Cir. 2002)). "The burden on a defendant who raises a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is extremely high." *Starnes*, 583 F.3d at 206 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *United States v. Iglesias*, 535 F.3d 150, 155 (3d Cir. 2008)).

In support of his sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim, Cooper incorporates all of the arguments and contentions made in his challenge to the weight of the evidence, discussed above. We need not revisit these arguments at length. To the extent that they challenge Mazzocchi's credibility, the jury knew of his potential bias and the inconsistencies in his testimony, yet still a rational trier of fact could have credited his testimony. And while isolated pieces of evidence could support a not guilty verdict, copious recorded testimony supports the jury's verdict. For the same reasons discussed above, these arguments cannot lead us to conclude that no rational trier of fact could have found Cooper guilty of conspiracy to extort under color of official right.

Cooper also argues that the inconsistency of the jury's not guilty verdict on the Hobbs Act attempt charge with the guilty verdict on the Hobbs Act conspiracy charge should be considered in evaluating the sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim. He maintains that it was impossible for a rational jury to determine that Cooper conspired to commit extortion under color of official right, but did not attempt to do so. The acquittal, he argues, shows that the jury determined that he either lacked the intent to commit extortion or that he did not take a substantial step *in furtherance of the conspiracy*, either of which would undermine the conspiracy conviction.

This argument misunderstands the requirements of attempt as compared to conspiracy. An attempt conviction requires that the defendants acted with the requisite intent to violate the Hobbs Act and performed an act that constituted a substantial step *towards the commission of the crime*. *Manzo*, 636 F.3d at 66. The jury did not inquire whether Cooper performed a substantial step in furtherance of the conspiracy, because conspiracy and attempt are different crimes. The two inchoate offenses address different conduct, and “along the continuum of different criminal activity, attempt crimes are closer to completed crimes than are conspiracy crimes.” *United States v. O'Brien*, 972 F.2d 47, 52 (3d Cir. 1992). As discussed above, Hobbs Act conspiracy does not even require an overt act. A rational jury could have reasonably concluded that Cooper entered an agreement intending to commit extortion under color of official right, but took no substantial step in furtherance of committing that crime.

Furthermore, the jury's acquittal on the attempt count is irrelevant to our review of the sufficiency of



the evidence on the conspiracy count. Review to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to convict on a particular count “should be independent of the jury’s determination that evidence on another count was insufficient.” *Powell*, 469 U.S. at 67. We conclude that the evidence was sufficient to support the jury’s verdict for the reasons discussed above and in the District Court’s lengthy opinion. The District Court did not err in denying Cooper’s motion for judgment of acquittal.

## 3.

Cooper argues that the District Court erred in denying his motion to vacate his conviction and dismiss the indictment on account of selective prosecution and outrageous government conduct. We conclude – as the Government urges – that these claims are waived due to Cooper’s failure to raise them before trial.

Under the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, “a motion alleging a defect in instituting the prosecution” must be raised before trial. Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(A). Claims of selective prosecution and outrageous government conduct allege defects in the institution of the prosecution. *See United States v. Pitt*, 193 F.3d 751, 760 (3d Cir. 1999) (“[T]he defense of outrageous government conduct is based on an alleged defect in the institution of the prosecution itself.”); *United States v. Berrigan*, 482 F.2d 171, 175 (3d Cir. 1973) (“The question of discriminatory prosecution relates not to the guilt or innocence of the appellants, but rather addresses itself to a constitutional defect in the institution of the prosecution.”). We have observed that a pretrial motion is necessary to a claim of outrageous government prosecution “un-

less the evidence supporting the claim of outrageous government conduct is not known to the defendant prior to trial.” *Pitt*, 193 F.3d at 760. The same logic applies to a claim for selective prosecution. Therefore, we hold that claims of outrageous government conduct and selective prosecution must be made in a pretrial motion, unless the evidence supporting these claims were not known to the defendant prior to trial.

Cooper raised neither the selective prosecution claim nor the outrageous government conduct claim before trial. Instead, he raised them in a post-trial motion. Cooper has presented no explanation or excuse for his failure to present these arguments prior to trial. He had sufficient opportunity to do so, as the evidence upon which he now relies in support of these claims was available to him well before trial.<sup>12</sup> We conclude that Cooper waived these defenses by failing to raise them in a pretrial motion as required under Rule 12(b)(3)(A). Because he has given no explanation or excuse for his failure to raise them previously, we need not make an exception to Cooper’s

---

<sup>12</sup> Cooper bases his selective prosecution and outrageous government conduct claims on the Government’s alleged relinquishment of prosecutorial authority and agency to Mazzocchi. Cooper contends that Mazzocchi is racist, and chose to focus the investigation upon Cooper and Salahuddin due to his racial animus. But Cooper was aware that the Government chose to prosecute only Salahuddin and himself – both African-American – and not Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio – both Caucasian – from the time of institution of the proceedings against him. He relies upon transcripts of taped conversations between Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio to demonstrate Mazzocchi’s alleged racial animus, but these recordings were made available to him almost a year before trial began.

waiver. *See Pitt*, 193 F.3d at 760 (refusing to grant an exception to a waiver finding because defendant had offered no explanation for failure to raise the defense in a pretrial motion).

IV.

For the foregoing reasons, we will affirm the District Court's judgments of conviction for both Salahuddin and Cooper.

**Appendix B**

**UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT  
OF NEW JERSEY**

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff,

v.

RONALD SALAHUDDIN, Defendant.

No. 10-104 (FLW)

**OPINION**

**WOLFSON, United States District Judge:**

On October 14, 2011, Defendants Ronald Salahuddin (“Salahuddin”) and Sonnie Cooper (“Cooper”) (collectively “Defendants”) were convicted by a jury of conspiracy to obstruct interstate commerce by extortion under color of official right, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) (the “Hobbs Act”). Defendants were acquitted on counts of attempting to violate the Hobbs Act and violating the Hobbs Acts. Now Defendants each move the Court to enter an acquittal under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 29 because of an insufficiency of the evidence or to vacate the conviction and order a new trial under Rule 33 because the conviction was against the weight of the evidence. Additionally, Salahuddin argues his conviction should be vacated because (1) of alleged Brady violations by the Government; (2) the Court improperly instructed the jury, and (3) his intent was only to facilitate and promote minority hiring, not to violate the law. And Cooper argues his conviction should be vacated because (1) the Government en-

gaged in shocking, outrageous, and intolerable behavior and (2) the Government selectively prosecuted Cooper and Salahuddin because they were African American, while not prosecuting other potential Caucasian targets. For the reasons set forth below, Defendants' motions are denied.

## **I. BACKGROUND**

The following is a brief summary of the Government's allegations. Salahuddin was formerly Deputy Mayor of the City of Newark in charge of Public Enforcement and Cooper owned a demolition business in Newark. The conspiracy between the two involved a circular plan whereby Salahuddin would direct government contracts to a third party, Nicholas Mazzocchi ("Mazzocchi"), if Mazzocchi would then subcontract work to Cooper. This would then benefit Salahuddin, who allegedly had a silent financial interest in Cooper's business, S. Cooper Brothers Trucking.

The Government claimed that between July 2006 and December 2007, Salahuddin and Cooper conspired to use Salahuddin's official position to steer demolition contracts from the City of Newark and the New Jersey Devils to Mazzocchi, who owned and operated Mazzocchi Wrecking, Inc, a demolition company. If Salahuddin could award contracts to Mazzocchi—or influence other Newark officials to award contracts to Mazzocchi—then Mazzocchi was expected to subcontract work to Cooper. Cooper would profit directly through the work and Salahuddin indirectly through his hidden financial relationship with Cooper. Further, Salahuddin asked Mazzocchi to contribute to certain political causes supported by the Newark Mayor's Office and other Newark public officials to make it appear that

Mazzocchi was a “friend of the administration” in order to facilitate awarding the contracts to Mazzocchi.

The Government argued that the idea for the conspiracy originated when Salahuddin met with Joseph Parlavecchio (“Parlavecchio”), who provided consulting work to several Newark demolition companies, including Mazzocchi’s. Indeed, Salahuddin and Cooper were introduced to Mazzocchi through Parlavecchio. Unbeknownst to the other three, Mazzocchi was cooperating with the F.B.I. and was recording his conversations with Salahuddin, Cooper, and Parlavecchio.<sup>1</sup> On July 29, 2006, and August 5, 2006, Parlavecchio met with Mazzocchi to discuss that he had met with Salahuddin. Parlavecchio told Mazzocchi that if Mazzocchi wanted more demolition work in Newark—where he had not received a contract in over five years—he would have to subcontract work to Cooper. Mazzocchi then met in person with Cooper individually, met with Cooper and Salahuddin together, and spoke with both on the telephone numerous times over the next year; Mazzocchi discussed obtaining demolition contracts from the City of Newark as well as demolition work in connection with the New Jersey Devils Stadium that was being built in Newark. All three discussed how Cooper should be given some work if Mazzocchi received contracts from Newark.

The Government also sought to prove that Salahuddin and Cooper shared a significant financial relationship and that therefore Salahuddin would

---

<sup>1</sup> Mazzocchi agreed to work with the F.B.I. in April 2006, in order to avoid prosecution for bribery of multiple public officials and tax-evasion. 9/14/2011 Trial Tr., 75-76.

profit if Mazzocchi were to work with Cooper. Cooper was a Newark-based businessman who owned several concerns, including a deli, a liquor store, and S. Cooper Brothers Trucking. In 2004, Salahuddin loaned Cooper money for Cooper to secure a bond so that he could be eligible for a garbage contract from the City of Irvington. Salahuddin served as a general indemnitor for the bond. In addition, Salahuddin provided Cooper with money for litigation and business expenses. Cooper described Salahuddin as a “silent partner” in his trucking business and Salahuddin explained to Mazzocchi that he and Cooper “did business together” and also referred to Cooper as his partner.

In addition to providing Cooper with subcontracts related to Newark demolition projects, Salahuddin asked Mazzocchi to contribute to several causes in order to enable Salahuddin to direct work to Mazzocchi. Despite Salahuddin’s contrary suggestions to Mazzocchi, Salahuddin had no actual authority to award demolition contracts. Later in the course of the conspiracy, Salahuddin suggested that Mazzocchi make these contributions as a means to help Salahuddin influence the officials who did have power over the contracts. These contributions included a \$5,000 donation by Mazzocchi to Newark Now, a non-profit organization associated with Newark Mayor, Cory Booker; \$3,000 to purchase a table at a fundraiser for Mayor Booker; and \$4,000 in donations by Mazzocchi for Empower Newark, a Newark-based political action committee.

Based on these dealings and the conversations recorded by Mazzocchi, the Government brought charges against Salahuddin and Cooper. On February 18, 2010, a grand jury in Trenton, New Jersey,

returned a five-count indictment against Defendants. Count One charged Defendants with a conspiracy to obstruct interstate commerce by extortion under color of official right in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a), also known as the Hobbs Act. Count Two charged that Defendants knowingly and willfully attempted to obstruct interstate commerce by extortion under the color of official right, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) and 18 U.S.C. § 2. Counts Three through Five charged violations of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(B) and 18 U.S.C. § 2, in that Defendants knowingly and corruptly solicited, demanded, accepted, and agreed to accept as bribes things of value to influence and reward Salahuddin's effort to steer Newark demolition contracts from the City of Newark to Mazzocchi and Cooper. In particular, Count Three related to contracts Cooper received, Count Four related to contributions Mazzocchi made at Salahuddin's behest, and Count Five related to a \$5,000 payment that Cooper made to Salahuddin contemporaneously with being paid by Mazzocchi. Salahuddin was charged in all counts of the indictment; Cooper was charged in all Counts, except Count Four. Trial began on September 7, 2011, during which the Government introduced a number of recorded conversations, significant documentary evidence, and testimony from Mazzocchi as well as several Newark officials. After the Government rested, Salahuddin called several character witnesses and also testified himself. Cooper did not call any witnesses, but did examine Salahuddin. Closing arguments lasted several days. On October 14, 2011, the jury returned its verdict and Defendants were convicted only on Count One, that they conspired to violate the Hobbs Act.



Defendants now move the Court to enter an acquittal or to vacate the conviction and order a new trial.

## II. LEGAL STANDARD

### a. Rule 29 Motion for Acquittal

According to Rule 29(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, “[a]fter the government closes its evidence or after the close of all the evidence, the court on the defendant’s motion must enter a judgment of acquittal of any offense for which the evidence is insufficient to sustain a conviction.” A court may reserve its decision on a Rule 29 motion until after the jury has reached a verdict. If so, the court still must decide the motion on the basis of the evidence at the time the ruling was reserved. *United States v. Brodie*, 403 F.3d 123, 133 (3d Cir. 2005); *United States v. Claxton*, 2012 U.S. App. LEXIS 13969, \*11-12 (3d Cir. July 9, 2012). Hence, this Court must decide Defendants’ Rule 29 motions based on the evidence at the end of the Government’s case in chief, *see Brodie*, 403 F.3d at 134, and their renewed motion at the end of the trial based on all evidence entered.

A Rule 29 motion requires a court to determine whether the government’s evidence is sufficient, or stated another way, whether the record contains “substantial evidence from which any rational trier-of-fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *United States v. Lore*, 430 F.3d 190, 203-04 (3d Cir. 2005); *United States v. Smith*, 294 F.3d 473, 476 (3d Cir. 2002); *United States v. Wolfe*, 245 F.3d 257, 261 (3d Cir. 2001). In weighing the evidence presented, the court must “review the record in the light most favorable to the prosecution,” resolving all credibility

determinations in the government's favor. Wolfe, 245 F.3d at 261; *see also United States v. Leon*, 739 F.2d 885, 891 (3d Cir. 1984) (court must look at the evidence presented by the Government taken as a whole).

Indeed, “[c]ourts must be ever vigilant in the context of Fed. R. Crim. P 29 not to usurp the role of the jury by weighing credibility and assigning weight to the evidence, or by substituting its judgment for that of the jury.” *Brodie*, 403 F.3d at 133 (citations omitted); *United States v. Carmichael*, 269 F. Supp. 2d 588, 595 (D.N.J. 2003) (“The defendant must also overcome the jury’s special province in evaluating witness credibility and conflicting testimony.”). A finding that the government’s evidence is insufficient is reserved to those exceptional “cases where the prosecution’s failure is clear,” making “[t]he burden on a defendant who raises a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence...extremely high.” *Smith*, 294 F.3d at 476 (discussing post-trial Rule 29 motion); *United States v. Serafini*, 233 F.3d 758, 770 (3d Cir. 2000) (same). The Court is obligated to “draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the jury’s verdict.” *Smith*, 294 F.3d at 476 (quoting *United States v. Anderskow*, 88 F.3d 245, 251 (3d Cir. 1996)).

#### **b. Rule 33 Motion for a New Trial**

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 33 provides that “[u]pon the defendant’s motion, the court may vacate any judgment and grant a new trial if the interest of justice so requires.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 33. The authority to grant a new trial pursuant to Rule 33 is limited to those instances where the Court “believes that there is a serious danger that a miscarriage of justice has occurred—that is, that an innocent person has been convicted.” *United States v. Johnson*, 302

F.3d 139, 150 (3d Cir. 2002) (internal citations and quotations omitted); *United States v. Silveus*, 542 F.3d 993, 1004-05, (3d Cir. 2008). Even in those cases where the court may feel that the verdict is contrary to the weight of the evidence, “[m]otions for a new trial based on the weight of the evidence are not favored” and should be limited to “exceptional cases.” *Silveus*, 542 F.3d at 1005 (quoting *Government of Virgin Islands v. Derricks*, 810 F.2d 50, 55 (3d Cir. 1987)). Yet if there is a reasonable possibility that a “trial error had a substantial influence on the verdict,” a new trial must be granted. *United States v. Mastro*, 570 F. Supp. 1388, 1390 (E.D. Pa. 1983); *Government of Virgin Islands v. Bedford*, 671 F.2d 758, 762 (3d Cir. 1982)).

Defendants make a number of other arguments besides challenging the sufficiency of the evidence under Rules 29 and 33. These alleged errors must meet the same Rule 33 standard of Defendants showing that any such errors had a “substantial influence on the verdict” in order for me to grant a new trial.

### **III. Discussion**

Defendants were convicted of conspiring to violate the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951. In particular, § 1951(a) provides:

Whoever in any way or degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in commerce, by robbery or extortion or attempts or conspires so to do, or commits or threatens physical violence to any person or property in furtherance of a plan or purpose to do anything in violation of this section shall be fined under

this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or both.

Relevant for this case, § 1951(b)(2) defines “extortion” as “the obtaining of property from another, with his consent, induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear, or under *color of official right*.” 18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2) (emphasis added); *see also United States v. Driggs*, 823 F.2d 52, 54 (3d Cir. 1987) (“The essential elements that the government must prove are that the defendant obstructed, delayed or affected commerce or attempted to do so; by extortion (‘the obtaining of property from another, with his consent...under color of official right’); and that the defendant acted knowingly and willfully.”). To prove the elements of the conspiracy, the Government had to show as to each Defendant that: (1) he knowingly or intentionally agreed to commit extortion under color of official right that potentially could have affected interstate commerce; (2) he was a party to that agreement; and (3) he entered into it knowing of the objective, and entered into it with unity of purpose with at least one other alleged conspirator to achieve the objective, in this instance violating the Hobbs Act as described above. *United States v. Rankin*, 870 F.2d 109, 113 (3d Cir. 1989); *United States v. Shoup*, 608 F.2d 950, 956 (3d Cir. 1979); *United States v. Uzzolino*, 651 F.2d 207, 214 (3d Cir. 1981); *United States v. Small*, 472 F.2d 818, 819 (3d Cir. 1971).

**a. Sufficient Evidence Supported the Jury’s Verdict**

At trial, Defendants made Rule 29 motions at the end of the Government’s case-in-chief and at the end of the trial. Alternatively, Defendants argue in their brief that the jury’s verdict is against the weight of

the evidence and a new trial must be granted. The Government sought to prove the underlying elements of the conspiracy by showing that Salahuddin and Cooper intended to use Salahuddin's official power, directly or indirectly, to award contracts to Mazzocchi in exchange for an agreement to provide some subcontracting work to S. Cooper Brothers Trucking, a company in which Salahuddin had a silent and significant interest, and to seek political contributions from Mazzocchi in exchange for an explicit promise to influence other Newark officials. Then the Government sought to prove the conspiracy by showing that Salahuddin with Mazzocchi originated the plan with full knowledge of its purpose and that Cooper willfully joined with a unity of purpose and both took steps to achieve the desired ends. Cooper argues the evidence was insufficient to demonstrate (1) the existence of any such agreement; (2) that he was a member of any such agreement; or (3) that he had the requisite intent. Cooper Br. at 8. Salahuddin does not explicitly make these same factually based arguments and instead focuses on supposed legal inconsistencies in the jury's verdict that the Court addresses in turn. But because both parties moved at trial for acquittal based on an insufficiency of the evidence, and move now for a new trial, the Court will treat these arguments as applicable to both parties.

The Court presided over thirteen days of testimony and the introduction of thousands of pages of evidence by the Government, and has reviewed the transcripts and evidence at length. After its exhaustive review, the Court finds that the evidence substantially supports the jury's verdict that such a conspiracy existed. Perhaps most vital to the Government's case were recordings of Defendants' conversa-

tions during the formation and course of this conspiracy. These recordings were made by Mazzocchi while participating in in-person meetings and telephone calls with Defendants. Although a reasonable person could conceivably ascribe more than one meaning to a number of the conversations, they nonetheless support the Government's theory, and a reasonable jury could so find. For example, the Government argues the conspiracy began in July 2006, after a meeting between Parlavecchio and Salahuddin. Recorded conversations between Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio, whom Mazzocchi had retained as a consultant in order to help him obtain more Newark contracts (9/9/2011 Trial Tr. at 209), reveal Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio alluding to an agreement concerning Salahuddin:

Joseph Parlavecchio: That's fine, that's fine. Alright, I met with the mayor. I met with the deputy mayor [Salahuddin]. And I'm gonna meet with you, him, and the deputy. There's only one little thing. We gotta give, throw, and I know you're doing it already. You got Cooper, you got a couple of boxes on one of your jobs, whatever else. We'll give Cooper a little bit once in a while-- a machine we'll meet with Sonnie -- that's all they want they want a black guy involved. So, I'll set up the meeting for this week with us. Alright?□

Nicholas Mazzocchi: You mean, give, sub Cooper a little work?

□JP: Yeah, I gotta give him a machine ahh, he doesn't have any fucking machines.

NM: Yeah, yeah.

T-3029-1 3:2-3:13. What is clear is that Parlavecchio met with Salahuddin and that Parlavecchio related to Mazzocchi that in order for Mazzocchi to receive contracts from Newark he had to give Cooper subcontracting work. Beyond this, Defendants argue the conversation should be interpreted as showing that Mayor Booker and Salahuddin were merely advocating for minority business participation rather than, as argued by the Government, that in order to obtain contracts, Mazzocchi would have to agree to provide work to Cooper, who was financially entangled with Salahuddin and that when Parlavecchio spoke about this arrangement he was referring to a separate conversation between Salahuddin and himself.<sup>2</sup> The jury apparently chose to believe the latter interpretation, which is consistent with other statements made within that conversation and another that took place shortly thereafter on August 6, 2006, between Parlavecchio and Mazzocchi:

JP: I'll try and set up that lunch on Thursday or so. We should be back in business.

NM: Yeah, Thursday'll be all right with me.

JP: (UI).

NM: Who are we meeting with? Cory's um--

JP: His Deputy Mayor.

NM: The Deputy Mayor.

---

<sup>2</sup> Mayor Booker testified that Salahuddin had no responsibilities related to demolition and that he did not know of any arrangement regarding Cooper nor did he know that Cooper operated a demolition business. 9/20/2011 Trial Tr. at 74-78.

JP: I know he's an ass, but he gives us work. You know give Cooper a couple of boxes or whatever else. They're worried about the Shine.

NM: (UI) yeah that's not a problem.

JP: That's cheap, their cheap.

NM: What's he want Joe?

JP: Who?

NM: This guy, ah, the Deputy Mayor?

JP: Nothing. You know, I'm already in, your in, I mean, you know, we made our (UI), he wants to help Cooper out. Now Cooper transitioned nice from fucking Sharpe, to this guy. For what reason? He's a Shine.

T-3031-1 2:13-18. Again this evidence can be interpreted to support the Government's position that Salahuddin developed the conspiracy with Parlavecchio, who relayed it to Mazzocchi. A month later, on August 24, 2006, Cooper met with Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio, and the parties again alluded to their agreement:

JP: Yeah. So, we're gonna' give whatever we get, we're gonna' give, you know, some work, be it containers, machines, whatever. Be fair.

NM: Yeah.

Sonnie Cooper: Good.

JP: But I want you to meet Nick [Mazzocchi] and--

SC: Okay.

NM: Alright.



52a

JP: Our word's our bond.

NM: We're gonna' do good, we're gonna do good together.

JP: We get, he sends it over, you're gonna' do very well.

SC: Alright.

T-3034-2 3:8-18.

NM: The guy that was supposed to meet us?

JP: Ron?

SC: Salahuddin?

NM: Yeah.

JP: That's [Cooper's] main man.

NM: Okay.

SC: Oh, (UI)

NM: I mean--

JP: Why do you think Ron's interested? Not because of me--

SC: Right.

NM: Yeah. Right.

JP: He's interested in Sonnie.

NM: The better he takes care of me, the better I take care of you.

SC: Okay.

NM: I mean I wanna' rock n' roll.

SC: Yeah.

NM: I ain't done nothin' in five fuckin' years, here.

SC: Okay.

T-3034-2 3:20-4:15. Cooper argues his role was passive, merely accepting the deal that was offered to him. While this is one possible interpretation, the evidence and conversations nonetheless support an inference that Cooper had agreed to the plan and desired that it be carried out. Cooper never argued with the arrangement nor questioned why Mazzocchi was offering to subcontract work to him only because Salahuddin was his “main man.” Moreover, Cooper himself made affirmative statements and took steps to confirm the plan at a September 12, 2006, meeting with Mazzocchi:

NM: I'll work with you and you work with him.

SC: Exactly.

SC: [Salahuddin] said to me whatever we do, we have to, you know, I have to eat and he has to eat.

NM: Right.

SC: (UI) the other day (UI), he's gonna' be, in charge of seeing, where most, where most of the stuff go to, mostly his call (UI).

NM: Right. Sonnie, I know he's gotta' be shielded. Whatever we gotta' do I do with you, and you take care of him. You know what I mean? But like they got these 200 houses, I wanna' get goin'. It's been five fuckin' years. Now, I got the contract, you know—

\* \* \*

SC: Look, we've been together long. You know [Salahuddin], he's the type of guy that, I mean, how many black guys I can go to, tell him I need four hundred thousand, he'll come up with it--

NM: Uh huh.

SC: That's our relationship.

NM: So, what do you think we could do? Do you think you could do anything?

SC: I could, I could say who I believe who ever meet, let me say it this way, (UI) see most of it, he said along exact same line we did. You know? (UI) hooked up with Nacirema and that's part of it (UI), he told me that.

NM: Uhm hmm.

SC: But he'll, he'll (UI). Whoever do best, whoever do best by me, will do, will do it.

T-3037-1 5:3-13, 6:10-20. The jury could infer Cooper's willfulness and intent based on his explanation to Mazzocchi that Salahuddin would award contracts to whoever can provide Cooper the most work and that both Cooper and Salahuddin expected to benefit because both "had to eat." Soon after, on September 20, 2006, Salahuddin also met with Cooper and Mazzocchi:

Ronald Salahuddin: It's more important to me that you two, again, I'm speaking Chinese so you understand what I'm saying--

NM: Yep, yep.

RS: That you two [Cooper and Mazzocchi] are like this--

NM: Right.

RS: Then, anybody else—

\* \* \*

RS: I know [Mayor Booker] wants to get the work done. I know he wants minority participation, I know he wants this, I know he wants this town cleaned up. So, that's all in our advantage. And we know the money's there.

NM: Uhm hmm.

RS: Two things he's not gonna' take back, quality of life which is demolition of these old, abandoned raggedy buildings and stuff, and police. So, I'm sayin' that I just want you two, okay, to be closer.

NM: Uhm hmm.

RS: Because, and to be very candid with you, okay? Be very honest. You know. You're in such a position to where you're doin' so much and we get some out of East Orange, we can get a little out of Newark, uh, once in a while, Irvington, nothin' out of Orange, but you're all over the state—

NM: Uhm hmm.

\* \* \*

NM: You're gonna' help us? Are you gonna' help us? I need--

RS: That's why I'm sittin' here.

NM: I know. I know. I know. I mean, I'm goin' five years I haven't done nothin', so--

RS: That's why I'm sittin' here.

NM: Okay. So--

RS: It's enough to where, now--

NM: So long as Sonnie's happy, you're happy. That's all there is to it. That's it. Cause all I gotta' do is feed Sonnie.

SC: Yeah.

RS: (UI) not only that--

NM: Yeah.

RS: Yeah, let me finish. So, that's what I'm saying

NM: Okay.

RS: Okay? Uhm, I'm gonna, you, you will not be shut out.

NM: Okay.

RS: Let's put it that way.

NM: Okay.

RS: Okay? I don't know, I don't know why you, I don't know about all that.

NM: Uhm hmm.

RS: That was an old administration. This is a new administration.

NM: Right.

RS: Okay? Uhm, as far as uhm, demolition and all that stuff, he lets me deal with that.

NM: Okay.

\* \* \*

RS: So I mean, I know I'm sayin', I've been talkin' circuitous but, you understand?

NM: Yep.

RS: So, all I want you to do is, you know, help [Cooper], you know, feed him, not a salad, you know, sometimes a man gotta' have steak--

SC: Exactly.

T-3040-2, 6:3-8; 7:20-8:10; 9:11-12:16. The references to Mazzocchi and Cooper being tightly connected, to the availability of funds for demolition contracts, to Mazzocchi helping Cooper and Mazzocchi not being shut out, to Cooper eating, and to Salahuddin managing demolition contracts all support the Government's theory. There are numerous similar references throughout this September 20, 2006, conversation. *Id.* at 16:19-17:6; 18:15-19:4; T-3040-3, 2:3- 10. Moreover, immediately after this conversation—only one day later—Mazzocchi called Cooper and gave him a private demolition job even though Mazzocchi apparently had someone else scheduled to do it. T-3041 2:1-3:12 (“NM: Alright and we, we need it done right away. They had another guy scheduled to do it...I got rid of him.”). The parties originally agreed to \$13,000 for the job despite Mazzocchi thinking this was higher than expected. *Id.*; T-3042-B 2:16-3:4 (“SC: Okay. I, I figure around thirteen [thousand dollars] for it. Can I get around thirteen for it? \* \* \* NM: Alright, alright, alright. That's a little bit more but it's for you, I don't care.”). Then on September 28, 2006, Cooper asked for more money for the job, and Mazzocchi agreed, this time

for \$16,000. T-3042C 2:14-3:11.<sup>3</sup> On October 6, 2006, Salahuddin told Mazzocchi that he appreciated the work that was given to Cooper and discussed future city demolition projects that Mazzocchi might be able to obtain. T-3043 4:19-5:23. Soon after, Salahuddin also assisted Mazzocchi in the collection of money he was owed by the City of Newark for past projects. Id. at 2:21-4:7; T-3046-A 2:19-6:20; T-3046-B 2:7-3:3.

Salahuddin and Cooper continued to meet with Mazzocchi and continued to reference Salahuddin directing work to Mazzocchi in exchange for Mazzocchi subcontracting to Cooper. On October 31, 2006, the three met for lunch, during which Mazzocchi suggested that because he had given Cooper work, he was hopeful he would soon be receiving more government contracts, of which Cooper could be a part. Salahuddin seemingly agreed by means of another eating-related metaphor.

NM: Yeah. You know what I mean? Cause that was a big, we upheld all that. We did what we were supposed to do, and uhm, you know, if we get a, could get a big piece then Sonnie can be with me, you know what I mean? That's all. You know like, maybe you say, oh, I got no problem with Mazzocchi, he (UI).

RS: (UI) gotta' do is, see now I can go in there with a position of strength-- NM: Right.

RS: He says, well, can he handle this? I'll say yes, cause he works with Nick Mazzocchi.

NM: Okay, good. Yeah. Yeah. Right.

---

<sup>3</sup> Eventually Cooper would bill Mazzocchi for \$22,000. Gov. Ex. 601.

RS: See now, there's no, there's no impediments now.

NM: Right.

\* \* \*

RS: We're having dinner.

NM: Right.

RS: We don't wanna' eat the steak.

NM: Right.

RS: You earned the steak.

NM: Right.

RS: But we can eat the soup and the salad.

NM: Right, right, right.

RS: You understand this is the way him, you understand what I'm saying? NM: Yeah, yeah, yeah.

RS: No one's looking for, you understand what I'm saying?

NM: Right.

RS: You, you--

SC: Yeah.

RS: You gotta' be the pilot. You gotta be the pilot.

NM: Alright. Okay.

RS: You earned the pilot's spot.

NM: Okay.

RS: We just wanna' be on the boat.

\* \* \*



RS: But out of those four [potential contractors, including Mazzocchi], okay who, who, who you think we gonna' lean to? Without you saying it?

NM: I hope so.

RS: Yeah, the other three, I don't, I don't, I'm not sitting having lunch with. NM: Right. I, I hope so. I mean--

RS: Well, I'm tellin' you. It's there.

T-3052-2 3:4-14; 4:8-5:4; *see also* T-3052-3 2:2-3:4.

RS: So, I, I have to put you in there because now I can say, hey we're able to do this and that whatever—

NM: Right. Yeah (UI).

RS: (UI), he knows you (UI)--

NM: (UI) money, you put me in there, he's with me.

RS: That's, that's what I'm sayin'.

NM: That's it. We don't need nobody else.

RS: Alright, no.

NM: Alright? Ronnie. I really appreciate it.

RS: No. Thank you Nick.

T-3052-3 3:21-4:8; *see also* T-3060 5:10-6:4; T-3063 5:17-6:12. The Government argued to the jury that Salahuddin's discussion of him and Cooper "eating" was an attempt at subtlety and confirmed the basic tenet of the arrangement that Mazzocchi could profit substantially from Newark City projects because of Salahuddin's influence and both Salahuddin

and Cooper could feed off some small portion of the gains.

Within the framework of this agreement, the Government showed that Mazzocchi was awarded several contracts, and subcontracted work to Cooper in connection with those projects, from the City of Newark, at Roseville Avenue (T-3080, T-3083, Gov't Exs. 706, 708) and Tichenor Street (T-3091, Gov't Exs. 807, 810). Cooper gave Salahuddin a check for \$5,000 shortly after he was paid for the Tichenor Street job. Gov't Ex. 1025. Defendants also discussed helping to direct demolition projects related to the building of the New Jersey Devils stadium to Mazzocchi so that all could profit. During their conversations about the stadium work, Salahuddin insisted that their arrangement remain a secret, otherwise he would not be able to effectively lobby for the project:

RS: I talked to Pablo. I wanna' deal with the city end and I wanna' deal with the Dev, the Devils. The Devils is our bigger, bigger piece, I want to get the city, ours.

\* \* \*

RS: Nick, listen to me. This is the key. The key is if they keep it private, see, you have two entities that are partners now. We have the Devils and you have the City of Newark. My job is to keep it private. The Devils wanna' keep it private. If it's kept private, now they can hire anybody they want to do the work.

T-3064 3:21-4:20. Salahuddin hoped to direct millions of dollars worth of work related to the stadium to Mazzocchi and Cooper. T-3075 3:7-4:19 ("RS: I

mean that's, that might be 5, 10 million dollars worth of road work and demolition... That's the real money. You know. So, just got to keep ourselves in position.”).

In addition, Mazzocchi made several political contributions at Salahuddin's insistence. These included a \$5,000 donation by Mazzocchi to Newark Now, a non-profit organization associated with Newark Mayor, Cory Booker (9/12/2011 Trial Tr. at 79-80; Gov't Ex. 2001); \$3,000 to purchase a table at a fundraiser for Mayor Booker (T-3091-2 7-9); and \$4,000 in donations by Mazzocchi for Empower Newark, a Newark-based political action committee (9/20/2011 Trial Tr. at 107-108; Gov't Exs. 2004, 2005, 2006, 2008; T-3064 10:6-10). When Mazzocchi discussed these donations with Salahuddin, Salahuddin suggested the donations were made in furtherance of the conspiracy so that everyone could “eat”

RS: You see, this now, okay, when Mazzocchi name's comes up when the demolition comes up--

NM: Hmm.

RS: I've already, listen. I already told--

NM: Yeah, uhm hmm.

RS: Pablo.

NM: Uhm hmm.

RS: Okay? He's the, he's the Chief of Staff.

NM: Yep.

RS: And I hand him this, you know with mine and Sonnie's, its locked in--

NM: Yeah. And I, and I got no problem doin' more but I gotta' eat.

RS: No, no, no, no, no--

NM: But you understand what I'm saying?

RS: Let me say something to you--

NM: If, if, if the--

RS: Let me say something to you. Let me say something to you. This was done, there won't be anymore, until we all eat. Including Sonnie.

NM: Um hmm. Yeah. Okay. Okay.

RS: Okay? I mean this is not, you know--

NM: Right.

RS: List, feed me and I'll, I'll, I'll--

NM: Right.

RS: Appreciate the food. I can't keep--

NM: You're exactly right. That's, that's what I mean.

RS: I can't tell you.

NM: That's what I mean.

RS: Feed.

T-3066-2 4:16-5:20. The jury could understand from this conversation that if everyone wanted to profit, including Cooper, then Mazzocchi had to make the donations so that Salahuddin could influence the contracting process.

The Court could continue in this fashion for many pages. This only represents a sample of the Government's evidence presented to the jury. Con-

sidered singly, each snippet of conversation may not be convincing, but, as a whole, the totality of the evidence firmly supports the jury verdict. Salahuddin's statements about directing contracts to Mazzocchi, all parties mentioning Salahuddin and Cooper "eating" or "being taken care of," Cooper discussing that whomever takes the best care of him will be taken care of by Salahuddin, Salahuddin and Cooper describing each other as "partners," Salahuddin's financial interest in Cooper Brothers Trucking, and Salahuddin soliciting Mazzocchi for political contributions in order to help direct demolition contracts to Mazzocchi all suggest a conspiracy willfully entered into by Salahuddin and Cooper where both intended Salahuddin to use his official capacity to direct projects to Mazzocchi if in turn Mazzocchi would share that work with Cooper so that both Cooper and Salahuddin could profit.

Defendants' initial Rule 29 motion was made at the end of the Government's case-in-chief and the Court reserved judgment until after the jury reached a verdict. Therefore, I must rule on Defendants' motion first based on the evidence at the end of the Government's case. *Brodie*, 403 F.3d at 134. The evidence discussed above was introduced to the jury during the Government's case; this included the 78 recorded conversations and corroborating support of physical, documentary, and testamentary evidence from Newark officials and Mazzocchi. Based on this evidence, and reviewing it in a light favorable to the prosecution, the Court finds there is substantial evidence from which any rational trier-of-fact could have found Salahuddin and Cooper guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. To hold otherwise would merely be substituting the Court's opinion for that of the jury.

As part of the Defense case, Salahuddin introduced evidence and testimony intended to show that he and Cooper were not motivated by any intent to extort payment but rather by a desire to help minority businesses in Newark, such as Cooper's.<sup>4</sup> In particular, Salahuddin testified that his intent was not conspiratorial nor criminal, but benign and he only sought to advance the interests of minority business owners in Newark. Salahuddin did not offer evidence that sufficiently rebutted the Government's case or negated the Government's evidence. Rather, he offered an alternative theory on how to view that evidence. As is discussed in further detail below, it was for the jury to accept or reject that theory—to decide what Defendants' motivations were and whether they had the requisite intent to commit the crimes charged. Again, in considering a Rule 29 motion, the Court must weigh the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution. *United States v. Silveus*, 542 F.3d 993, 1002 (3d Cir. 2008). The jury accepted the Government's theory and that theory was supported by substantial evidence as discussed above. Therefore, even considering the evidence and testimony offered after the Government's case, Defendants' renewed Rule 29 motion must also be denied. Based on the evidence presented at trial, a reasonable jury could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendants conspired to violate the Hobbs Act as charged in Count One.

---

<sup>4</sup> Cooper did not offer any witnesses of his own nor did he testify.

**b. The Jury's Verdict was Not Against the Weight of the Evidence**

Cooper offers a number of arguments why, even if his Rule 29 motions are denied, a new trial must be granted because the verdict is against the weight of the evidence under Rule 33. As stated before, this is a different standard than the Court applies to Defendants' Rule 29 motions. When a district court evaluates a Rule 33 motion it does not view the evidence favorably to the government. *Silveus*, 542 F.3d at 1005. Nevertheless, such motions are granted sparingly and only if the Court finds that the verdict is contrary to the weight of the evidence and that there is a serious danger that a miscarriage of justice has occurred. *Id.*

Cooper stresses what he views as the lack of direct evidence and argues that fact should frame the Court's review of the record. Cooper is correct that the recordings are not all direct, explicit statements evidencing an illegal agreement between himself, Salahuddin, and Mazzocchi. Nevertheless, the evidence supports a finding that such an agreement existed, and contrary to Cooper's argument, there is also substantial evidence that both Salahuddin and Cooper were aware of the unlawful nature of the agreement and intended to partake in it and share its benefits. As shown above, the parties would often speak in metaphor, alluding to the fact that while Mazzocchi could have the main course—the steak—Salahuddin and Cooper had to eat also. Salahuddin would repeatedly emphasize that he could not be direct and instead say that he had to speak “Chinese” or be “circuitous.” He felt confident that their agreement would be beyond reproach because Salahuddin was “not on paper.” At other times, however, Sala-

huddin was concerned who might be listening and the ramifications if then U.S. Attorney Chris Christie or the F.B.I. found out about their arrangement. T-3042-2 18. This conduct suggests that the parties were aware they were attempting to circumvent normal legal methods for assigning government contracts and doing so for profit. Therefore, the evidence substantially supports a finding that Salahuddin and Cooper joined or originated the conspiracy with an intent to extort a form of payment using Salahuddin's official power.

Nevertheless, Cooper argues that the verdict cannot stand because Mazzocchi's trial testimony was so riddled with contradictions it could not be believed and therefore must be discounted. There is little doubt that Mazzocchi himself was an unsavory character who played "a part" in this scheme and that he had a history of illegal interactions with public officials.<sup>5</sup> But Cooper's argument erroneously asserts that the Government's case rested "almost exclusively on the trial testimony of Mazzocchi and Mazzocchi's efforts to create the appearance of impropriety." Cooper Br. at 10. Were this assertion correct, then Cooper's argument might hold more weight. Instead, much of the evidence comes from

---

<sup>5</sup> Cooper relies heavily on the fact that Mazzocchi agreed to cooperate with the Government in exchange for not being prosecuted for certain earlier crimes. The jury was made very aware of Mazzocchi's agreement with the Government as well as his prior payments of bribes to public officials; the jury was free to factor these facts into its determination. Indeed, the jury was so instructed to consider these circumstances in evaluating Mazzocchi's testimony. It is beyond the Court's power here to find as a matter of law that Mazzocchi was biased.



Cooper's own statements as well as his acquiescence in what others said to him when explaining the conspiracy. For example, at the August 24, 2006 meeting Cooper agreed that he should be given work if Mazzocchi was given work and that Cooper would "do very well." Then, at the September 26, 2006 meeting, Cooper put this arrangement into his own words: "[Salahuddin] said to me whatever we do, we have to, you know, I have to eat and he has to eat" and that "whoever do best by me" will be rewarded. Other times Mazzocchi would confirm the plan with Cooper and Cooper would respond approvingly. The jury was free to conclude that when Mazzocchi said something like "all I gotta' do is feed Sonnie" and Cooper responds "Yeah" he was agreeing to the conspiracy. It is reasonable to infer that Cooper's agreement with Mazzocchi is proof of the agreement just as is Mazzocchi's explicit statement. These few instances are examples of what is replete throughout the recorded conversations—either Cooper agreeing with the contours of the conspiracy or explicitly explaining it to Mazzocchi. Cooper was not alone in this; Salahuddin also discussed and reiterated the plan—indeed, far more often than Cooper.

Along these lines, Cooper argues that the "Defendants' conduct was entirely innocent" and "they never responded to Mazzocchi's veiled attempts to make an arrangement." Cooper Br. at 12. As shown above, this is not accurate. Both Cooper and Salahuddin met with Mazzocchi, outlined the arrangement in their own words, and agreed with Mazzocchi when he did likewise. After Mazzocchi gave Cooper some work, one day after meeting with Salahuddin, then Salahuddin repeated that he appreciated it and worked to get Mazzocchi money that the city owed him as well as more contracts. Cooper

took this work, even continued to ask for more money for it, although he knew it had already been offered to someone else. This substantially supports a finding that Defendants confirmed the conspiracy with both their words and their actions.□ Even if Mazzocchi's testimony was foundational to the verdict, the jury was free to believe those portions that supported the Government's case. Many of Mazzocchi's testimonial "inconsistencies" that Cooper points to either sprout from misunderstandings between the pointed questions of counsel or are irrelevant to the substantive issues involved in this matter. For example, Cooper juxtaposes Mazzocchi's testimony regarding whether Mazzocchi had committed illegal bribes in the past. The thrust of this testimony is that in his earlier dealings Mazzocchi believed that agreeing to a "shakedown" was not illegal to acquire business, but he now understands that it was an illegal bribe. Cooper suggests that Mazzocchi always knew it was illegal and that his inconsistent testimony is proof that he is lying. There is no doubt that Mazzocchi was attempting to minimize his prior misdeeds and that his claimed epiphany about the illegality of those actions at trial lacked credulity. Nevertheless, whether or not Mazzocchi thought his conduct prior to being involved with Defendants was illegal is immaterial to the issues before the Court today. Defendants' counsel each pressed him on these points and suggested to the jury that Mazzocchi was lying; the jury was free to discount his testimony or accept it in whole or in part. It is centrally their province to act as fact finder and judge the witness's credibility. Moreover, no one knows what portion, if any, of Mazzocchi's testimony the jury relied upon, because the jury also had the tapes of the conversations between Mazzocchi, Salahuddin, and Cooper.

Whether or not the jury agreed with Defendants' characterization of Mazzocchi as a witness who could not be trusted is not a basis to overturn the conviction or grant a new trial.

Another supposed inconsistency is whether Mazzocchi was being truthful in his testimony regarding how he initially met Cooper. Defendants argue that Mazzocchi originally testified he met Cooper through Salahuddin and then reversed himself, saying he met him through Parlavecchio. Aside from the issue of whether this is even relevant to the substantive issues at hand, a review of the transcript and the recordings show there is no actual inconsistency. Mazzocchi only met Cooper because he believed that if he wanted to do business through Salahuddin he had to give business to Cooper. And it was through Parlavecchio that Mazzocchi learned of this arrangement. *See* T-3034-1 – T-3034-4. This does not preclude Mazzocchi's testimony that he met Cooper through Salahuddin's insistence, even though he learned of that insistence through Parlavecchio.

Cooper also argues that because Mazzocchi had prior experience bribing public officials, he would have obtained specific terms from Salahuddin and Cooper instead of talking "Chinese" as Defendants put it or discussing how Salahuddin and Cooper wanted to eat a portion of what Mazzocchi was being fed. But the jury could have inferred this obfuscation to be purposeful, designed by Defendants to avoid the very issue that Cooper raises: preventing the terms from being made so clear that a conviction could be easily had. This is further supported by the fact that Salahuddin and Cooper spoke in metaphors, Salahuddin was concerned about others discovering

the arrangement, or other times lauded the fact that he was “not on paper.”

Along these lines, Cooper contends that it was a failure of proof for the Government not to establish an explicit “payment term and concealment term” through testimony or the recorded conversations. In other words, Cooper complains about the relative lack of direct proof. It is well understood that such proof is not a prerequisite for a conviction. A conspiracy is often born of surreptitious means and is nurtured in shadow—to require direct evidence of all terms and aspects would allow conspirators to profit from their subterfuge. “Secrecy and concealment are essential features of successful conspiracy. The more completely they are achieved, the more successful the crime. Hence the law rightly gives room for allowing the conviction of those discovered upon showing sufficiently the essential nature of the plan and their connections with it, without requiring evidence of knowledge of all its details or of the participation of others.” *Blumenthal v. United States*, 332 U.S. 539, 557 (1947); see also *United States v. Smith*, 294 F.3d 473, 476 (3d Cir. 2002) (“The existence of a conspiracy can be inferred from evidence of related facts and circumstances from which it appears as a reasonable and logical inference, that the activities of the participants . . . could not have been carried on except as the result of a preconceived scheme or common understanding.”) (quoting *United States v. Gibbs*, 190 F.3d 188, 197 (3d Cir. 1999); *Brodie*, 403 F.3d at 134. The jury was free to infer that the statements about Mazzocchi giving work to Cooper or about Mazzocchi supporting certain causes suggested by Salahuddin constituted the “payment term.” Moreover, it was not necessary for Defendants to receive monetary payment; in the context of the

Hobbs Act, payment includes both tangible and intangible property, such as Mazzocchi's promise to provide subcontract work to Cooper or provide payments to causes supported by Salahuddin. See *Scheidler v. Nat'l Org. of Women, Inc.*, 537 U.S. 393, 402 (2003).

Cooper also argues that any payment he received was only for work he performed. This may be true, but that does not affect the jury's verdict or how the Court should interpret the evidence. The issue is not how much Cooper was paid for his work, but how he received the work in the first place. It is immaterial that Mazzocchi paid Cooper for the subcontracted work. The jury could infer from the evidence that Mazzocchi gave Cooper work at Salahuddin's and Cooper's insistence and in exchange for Salahuddin's promise to assign more city contracts to Mazzocchi. Direct evidence established that Mazzocchi gave Cooper work that he had already allocated for someone else.<sup>6</sup>

This pattern was repeated as Mazzocchi was awarded other Newark demolition work. In February 2007, Salahuddin promised to speak to Elyze Minter ("Minter"), Newark's Director of Demolition, to get Mazzocchi "some hits." T-3080-3 at 3. Salahuddin believed he could influence Minter's decision making process. Then on February 27, 2007, Newark gave Mazzocchi a contract for demolition work on Roseville Avenue. Mazzocchi subcontracted to Cooper, who received \$2,900. Then in April, Mazzocchi was

---

<sup>6</sup> Potentially belying Cooper's argument is that Mazzocchi paid Cooper substantially more than he thought was fair, which Cooper accepted without question.

awarded a demolition contract for a building on Tichenor Street. Mazzocchi again subcontracted work to Cooper and paid him \$5,029—a check that was sent to Cooper via Salahuddin. It was reasonable for the jury to find that but for the agreement between Defendants and Mazzocchi to use Salahuddin's influence, Mazzocchi would not have subcontracted with Cooper. That was the essence of the Government's case and it was supported by substantial evidence.

In connection with these contracts, Cooper points to Salahuddin's statements from February 27, 2007, and argues no conspiracy existed because Salahuddin said that Mazzocchi did not have to use Cooper for a job. What Salahuddin actually said was that Mazzocchi did not have to use Cooper "on this one" because Salahuddin and Cooper had "got a lot of stuff." Nevertheless, Mazzocchi said that he would give Cooper some work and Salahuddin responded that he appreciated it. In particular:

NM: Okay, and um, how about that what do you want me to do with Sonnie?

RS: No, no, no don't worry about that, that, that's not, you know, that, we got we got a lot of stuff to do that's you, just, ah, you know don't, don't worry about that. Just do what you gotta do.

NM: Alright.

RS: If you got, have you got, have you got something for him and you want to give him take the stuff out or whatever, whatever you, if you can do something for him you can, you can, if you don't, on this one don't worry about it, but if you can --

NM: No, I can, I can, I can, um, ah, should I call him or you want to call him and send me a truck?

RS: Yeah, no you, you call him and just tell him what you need, what to send you.

NM: Okay.

RS: I'll just call him and tell, I'll just call him and tell him that you're gonna, you're gonna call him.

NM: Alright, I appreciate it Ronnie.

RS: I appreciate you too okay.

T-3083D at 3:3-18. This could be understood in one of two ways: either disputing the Government's theory that Cooper's involvement was part of an illicit extortion scheme or supporting that theory because Salahuddin responded that not using Cooper this one time would be a potential exception because Salahuddin and Cooper were both busy, yet he nevertheless approved of and appreciated Mazzocchi giving Cooper work as part of their secret arrangement. Salahuddin's use of the first-person plural when he told Mazzocchi "we got a lot of stuff" supports this inference. Even if one interpreted the conversation as Defendants wish, it falls far short of disputing the weight of all other evidence or suggesting the jury's verdict represents a serious miscarriage of justice.

Cooper also argues that Mazzocchi's relationship with Parlavecchio exculpates Defendants. In particular, (1) Cooper points to what he believes are inconsistencies with Mazzocchi's testimony about his relationship with Parlavecchio; (2) argues that Mazzocchi extricated Parlavecchio from the conspiracy so that Mazzocchi could exercise more control over De-

defendants' conduct; and (3) ultimately Mazzocchi himself never had a firm grasp on the contours of the conspiracy because one never truly existed. It is not clear how these points are related or how they suggest that Defendants are innocent. What is clear is that the evidence supports finding Salahuddin and Cooper guilty of conspiracy irrespective of Parlavecchio's role. The recorded conversations show that even if Parlavecchio first introduced Mazzocchi to Salahuddin and Cooper, at some point Parlavecchio's involvement was minimized and kept separate from the vast majority of interactions between Mazzocchi, Salahuddin, and Cooper. On several occasions Parlavecchio chastised Mazzocchi for trying to develop a relationship with Salahuddin without him and Mazzocchi asked Salahuddin and Cooper both not to discuss their arrangement with Parlavecchio. No matter the motive or the potentially improper relationship between Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio, this does not absolve Salahuddin and Cooper of their separate involvement with Mazzocchi nor does it belie the Government's evidence of the conspiracy.

In support of his argument that he lacked intent, Cooper argues that he made no attempt to conceal his relationship with Mazzocchi and points to the fact that he was willing to accept a check rather than cash for the Roseville Avenue job. Cooper Br. at 32. As discussed above, the thrust of the Government's case was not that Cooper had to hide the fact that he obtained work through Mazzocchi, but that he had to hide *how he obtained that work*. If anything, the conversation cited by Cooper implies that he at least had knowledge of the conspiracy and its objective because it suggests he knew there was a reason to want to hide the arrangement. In particular, after Mazzocchi asked him about the form of payment and Cooper re-



sponded “It don’t make no difference,” Mazzocchi pressed and asked:

NM: You know what I mean? Cause I know, I know, you’re—

SC: Right, right.

NM: You know, maybe that helps you out with Ronnie--

SC: Okay.

NM: Or somethin’ like that--

SC: Okay.

NM: You know what I mean? I’ll give you cash. You know what--

SC: Okay.

NM: I wanna’ do the right thing, Sonnie.

SC: Okay.

T-3085 at 4:7-16. The recorded conversations showed that Cooper was a man of few words, often responding “okay,” but the jury could have concluded that if there was no underlying impropriety, then Cooper would have been more flummoxed by this conversation, incredulous at Mazzocchi’s concerns that paying in cash helped out Cooper and Salahuddin because that was the “right thing” to do. Therefore, the jury could have concluded that this evidence supported the existence of the conspiracy alleged by the Government, especially in the context of the other recorded conversations.

Similarly, the fact that Salahuddin did not conceal his attempts to lobby for Mazzocchi is unavailing to Defendants’ theory. According to Mayor Booker’s testimony, Salahuddin had no actual authority

to unilaterally award demolition contracts. 9/20/2011 Trial Tr. at 74. Rather, Salahuddin had to work through other officials and agencies. Therefore, in order for the arrangement to work, he had to openly lobby for Mazzocchi. Hiding his financial relationship with Cooper then would allow him to lobby more effectively as did asking Mazzocchi to contribute to certain political causes. This allowed Salahuddin to approach officials, such as Minter who had the actual authority to award demolition contracts, and say that Mazzocchi was a “friend of the administration.” Minter testified that he only awarded contracts to Mazzocchi because Salahuddin made such representations:

Q. What was your understanding as to why Deputy Mayor Salahuddin was telling you that Fiore was not a friend of the administration and Mazzocchi was a friend of the administration?

A. As I indicated, I got the impression that the work that I had been giving to Teddy Fiore, that I should give to Mazzocchi.

9/21/2011 Trial Tr. at 25:13-19. Further, it is immaterial that Salahuddin did not have actual power to award contracts as he suggested to Mazzocchi. A public official does not necessarily need to possess the power to do what he is promising. It is enough that a payment is made or a benefit is conferred in hopes that it will influence the official in the exercise of his office and if the official accepts the payment or benefit with that understanding. *United States v. Antico*, 275 F.3d 245, 258 (3d Cir. 2001) (“The Hobbs Act simply states that use of one’s office to obtain money or services not due is extortion.”); *United States v. Mazzei*, 521 F.2d 639, 643 (3d Cir. 1975)

(stating that a jury need not find a public official had “actual *de jure* power” to do what he promised).

Next, Cooper argues there was neither an improper, nor any, business relationship between himself and Salahuddin and further, that there was no evidence to support that Mazzocchi subtracting to Cooper was a means to pay off Salahuddin. The Court agrees that while some of the evidence can be interpreted to support Cooper’s position, it was for the jury to decide this issue, and the Government introduced substantial evidence to find there was a concealed relationship between Salahuddin and Cooper and that they designed this scheme so that they both could profit. Salahuddin had provided significant financial support for Cooper’s business in 2004, when he mortgaged property to give Cooper a loan so that Cooper could obtain a bond (Exs. 307, 309, 1008A), Salahuddin served as a general indemnitor for the bond (Ex. 306), and provided money for expenses (Exs. 1005, 1007). The recorded conversations also repeatedly demonstrated that Salahuddin and Cooper saw themselves as a single unit. For example, on March 8, 2007, Salahuddin and Mazzocchi had a telephone conversation in which Salahuddin was lamenting that Cooper’s Liquor Store was going to be investigated by Newark’s Alcohol Beverage Control. Because of Salahuddin’s position as head of a related task force, he explained to Mazzocchi that he had to allow the investigation to proceed otherwise people would be suspicious because “I do business with the guy.” T-3084 at 5. Later in the same conversation, he referred to Cooper as his “partner.” Id. at 6 (“I’m in charge of the task force and I gotta’ close down my own partner.”). Similarly, Cooper informed his bond broker, Philip Tobey, that Salahuddin was his “silent partner.” Ex. 311;

09/09/2011 Trial Tr. at 161-162. Moreover, on September 20, 2006, when Salahuddin met with Mazzocchi in person and discussed his arrangement with Cooper, Salahuddin said that “Sometimes you can’t say everything [because] you never know who’s listening.” T-3040-2 at 17:17-19. Nevertheless, he expressed confidence that even if he were being investigated by the U.S. Attorney’s Office, he was not “on paper” further suggesting his relationship with Cooper was secret. This is what was said:

RS: Me, you know, Chris Christie, the Attorney General will be looking at me--

NM: Yeah, you gotta’ stay clean.

RS: I ain’t got a connection to anything.

NM: You gotta stay clean.

RS: You see? So--

NM: They look at you just because you’re friends with him [Cooper]?

RS: Oh yeah. Yeah. But the good thing about this, I’m not on paper anywhere, no son, no girlfriend, no wife, no nothin’.

Id. at 18:15-22. As the Government pointed out at trial, neither Cooper nor Salahuddin disclosed their financial involvements with each other to Newark officials. Perhaps most telling is that in their recorded conversations, Salahuddin and Cooper often invoked “we” when referring to any benefits that were to flow to Cooper. While Salahuddin tried to explain at trial that he meant only Cooper, the jury was free to discount his testimony. Cooper dismisses this as merely “Salahuddin’s pompous, vague innuendoes.” Cooper Br. at 5. Again, it is for the jury to decide whether that was the case or not. The evidence, therefore,

substantially supports a finding that there was a significant financial relationship between Cooper and Salahuddin.

Finally, Cooper argues that because he had already received work from the city through Minter, he had no reason to join the conspiracy. Again, the jury was free to accept this reasoning, but did not need to. Substantial evidence supports the Government's theory that Cooper, through his relationship through Salahuddin, was looking for more work and did accept work from Mazzocchi. Simply because he had received work in the past, does not negate the possibility that Cooper wanted additional contracts. Such a conclusion is supported by the evidence, including the recorded conversations. Cooper explained that he was looking for people to "take care" of him and when Mazzocchi offered him work, he immediately accepted.

I do not find that the jury's guilty verdict was against the weight of the evidence or that the interests of justice require me to vacate the verdict and order a new trial. Indeed, the evidence supports the jury's finding that a conspiracy existed, that Defendants joined it, and that their involvement was willful and they intended to achieve the aims of the conspiracy, namely to use Salahuddin's purported influence to direct contracts to Mazzocchi and in turn subcontracts to Cooper. Many of Cooper's arguments are more properly made to a jury—and were made to the jury. That the jury did not accept them does not provide sufficient reason for a new trial.

### **C. The Verdict Was Not Inconsistent**

Salahuddin and Cooper separately argue that perceived inconsistencies in the jury's verdict require

the Court to vacate the conviction. The jury acquitted Defendants on Count Two, attempting to violate the Hobbs Act, and Counts Three through Five, the counts alleging substantive violations of the Hobbs Act.<sup>7</sup> Because the dismissed counts incorporated conduct alleged in Count One, Defendants posit, albeit each in a different way, that they must then be innocent of Count One as well. In essence, they argue that the conspiracy charge cannot stand unless the Government proved the conduct alleged in any of Counts Two through Five.

Salahuddin in particular focuses on this argument in his briefing to the Court. He argues that a Hobbs Act conspiracy requires an overt act of agreeing to, and accepting, the benefits promised. Salahuddin Br. at 11 (“Hence it is clear the Government must prove that defendant actually obtained the things of value set forth in the indictment.”). Accepting this as true, then Salahuddin contends acquittals on the substantive charges would by necessity require a not guilty verdict on the conspiracy charge. Much of Salahuddin’s argument is premised upon a condemnation of the concept of conspiracy generally—which is beyond the Court’s power to remedy—as well as a misunderstanding of conspiracy as applied to the Hobbs Act in particular. With denunciatory fervor, Salahuddin likens a conspiracy charge to a dangerous mythical beast that threatens the freedom of our citizenry. Salahuddin Reply at 5. But the evils engendered by illegal conspiracies are well discussed, and well known to courts.

---

<sup>7</sup> As mentioned above, Cooper was not charged in Count Four.

This settled principle derives from the reason of things in dealing with socially reprehensible conduct: collective criminal agreement—partnership in crime—presents a greater potential threat to the public than individual delicts. Concerted action both increases the likelihood that the criminal object will be successfully attained and decreases the probability that the individuals involved will depart from their path of criminality. Group association for criminal purposes often, if not normally, makes possible the attainment of ends more complex than those which one criminal could accomplish. Nor is the danger of a conspiratorial group limited to the particular end toward which it has embarked. Combination in crime makes more likely the commission of crimes unrelated to the original purpose for which the group was formed. In sum, the danger which a conspiracy generates is not confined to the substantive offense which is the immediate aim of the enterprise.

*Callanan v. United States*, 364 U.S. 587, 593-94 (1961) (discussing the Hobbs Act); *see also United States v. Feola*, 420 U.S. 671, 694 (1975) (“The law of conspiracy identifies the agreement to engage in a criminal venture as an event of sufficient threat to social order to permit the imposition of criminal sanctions for the agreement alone, plus an overt act in pursuit of it, regardless of whether the crime agreed upon actually is committed.”); *United States v. Jannotti*, 673 F.2d 578, 591 (3d Cir. 1982) (“Because an agreement between two or more persons to commit criminal acts poses, in and of itself, a serious danger to social order, it is proscribed by the law of

conspiracy.”). The larger the conspiracy or the less defined its aims, the more elastic its contours become, and it becomes susceptible to such stretching by the Government that courts must be wary of overreaching, of attempts to ensnare otherwise innocent conduct into the amorphous bounds of the conspiracy and its effects and consequences. But Defendants have not shown that to be the case here. Rather, as discussed above, the evidence supported a verdict that Defendants purposefully and directly engaged in a plan to use Salahuddin’s influence as Deputy Mayor for gain. That the jury found Defendants did not fully accomplish their goal does not in and of itself require acquittal or a new trial; there is no requirement that a Hobbs Act conspiracy can only be shown by obtaining extorted property. To so hold would merge the conspiracy and the substantive offense into one crime.

There is a significant distinction between a substantive offense and a conspiracy to commit that substantive offense. An unrealized conspiracy is no less criminal than a realized conspiracy; the illegality lies chiefly in making the agreement, not in achieving its ends. *See Callanan*, 364 U.S. at 593; *Jannotti*, 673 F.2d at 591; *United States v. Hsu*, 155 F.3d 189, 203 (3d Cir. 1998) (“It is thus the conspiratorial agreement itself, and not the underlying substantive acts, that forms the basis for conspiracy charges.”). But Salahuddin argues that “there must be an allegation and proof that defendants’ criminal act ‘crystallized,’ i.e. that they agreed to accept contributions, future payments and contracts for Cooper in exchange for future political favors and that such ‘crystallization’ is demonstrated by defendants obtaining contributions, future payments and contracts for Cooper, which constitutes the sine qua non overt



act substantiating a charge for conspiracy.” Salahuddin Br. at 11. He cites to the Third Circuit’s decision in *United States v. Manzo*, 636 F.3d 56 (3d Cir. 2011), for support. Nowhere in that opinion did the court hold or suggest that a Hobbs Act conspiracy charge (or the intent element of such a charge) requires proof that a defendant obtained property. What Defendant quotes from is a portion of the *Manzo* opinion where the Third Circuit is restating the Government’s position that the defendant’s intent “crystallized” when he agreed to accept payment in exchange for favors. *Id.* at 66. It is not a holding or rule of law, as suggested by Salahuddin, nor does it address whether a conspiracy charge requires a defendant to have obtained contributions or payment. Rather, it addresses how a defendant’s intent can be proven. Here, too, Salahuddin’s intent to join the conspiracy could have been said to crystallize when he agreed to accept payment, i.e. Mazzocchi subcontracting to Cooper, in exchange for favors. Salahuddin also quotes from *Manzo* for the proposition that the Government must prove that Defendants received “a thing of value” in order to sustain the conviction. But counsel neglects to inform the Court that this quote is regarding an attempt charge and that the *Manzo* Court nowhere held or suggested that a conviction for attempt, let alone conspiracy, requires proof that Defendants actually obtained a thing of value. Rather, the full quoted language reads:

An attempt conviction requires evidence that the defendants (1) acted with the requisite intent to violate the statute, and (2) performed an act that, under the circumstances as they believe them to be, constituted a substantial step in the commission of the crime.

*Id.* (internal edits and quotation omitted).

Salahuddin also relies on *United States v. Jannotti*, 673 F.2d 578 (3d Cir. 1982), for the same proposition. There, the Third Circuit discussed the jurisdictional requirements of the Hobbs Act and whether the alleged conduct affected interstate commerce.<sup>8</sup> The *Jannotti* Court explained, quite succinctly, that a conspiracy to violate the Hobbs Act is not the same as the substantive offense of violating the Hobbs Act and one can prove a conspiracy without conduct actually affecting interstate commerce. *Id.* at 591 (“In so arguing, defendants overlook the significant distinction between a conviction for a substantive offense and a conviction for a conspiracy to commit the substantive offense.”); *Hsu*, 155 F.3d at 203 (“The impossibility of achieving the goal of a conspiracy is irrelevant to the crime itself.”).

Generally a conspiracy requires the commission of an overt act. In part, this serves to corroborate the conspirators’ intent and to show that their criminal enterprise had proceeded past mere conjecture. Contrary to Defendants’ position, an overt act does not require, however, that the aims of the conspiracy be completed. Indeed, some case law holds that no overt act is required for a Hobbs Act conspiracy. *United States v. Palmer*, 203 F.3d 55, 63-64 (1st Cir. 2000) (“Evidence of an overt act is not required to establish a Hobbs Act conspiracy.”); *United States v. Pistone*, 177 F.3d 957, 960 (11th Cir. 1999); *Ladner v. United States*, 168 F.2d 771, 773 (5th Cir. 1948) (conspiracy to interfere with interstate commerce “does not re-

---

<sup>8</sup> The language that Salahuddin focuses on in *Jannotti* is not discussing the Hobbs Act, but an altogether different statute, 18 U.S.C. § 2314, concerning stolen goods.

quire an overt act to complete the offense”); *United States v. Facciolo*, 753 F. Supp. 449, 451 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) (“The Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951, does not require that any overt act be committed in furtherance of such a conspiracy to make out a violation.”). The Third Circuit has not specifically ruled on this, although some language could be read to support a similar holding. *United States v. Driggs*, 823 F.2d 52, 54 (3d Cir. 1987) (reciting the elements of a Hobbs Act conspiracy without including an overt act requirement); *United States v. Traitz*, 871 F.2d 368, 380-81 (3d Cir. 1989) (approving of general recitation of elements, which did not include an overt act requirement). And the comments to Third Circuit Model Jury Instructions note that “a Hobbs Act conspiracy does not require proof of an overt act.” Third Circuit Model Jury Instructions: Criminal § 6.18.-1951 comment (2010). Although, Defendants committed numerous overt acts, such as their continued meetings and discussions with Mazzocchi regarding their plan, I need not decide this issue.

What is important for these purposes is that Defendants’ concept of an overt act is far broader than what is required under the law. A conspiracy conviction does not require that the substantive crime, the object of the conspiracy, be completed.

Finally, Salahuddin relies on the Third Circuit decision in *United States v. Hannah*, 584 F.2d 27 (3d Cir. 1978), and cases similar to it, to argue that an inconsistent verdict should not be allowed to stand. As discussed above, I do not find the verdict to be inconsistent. Even assuming it were, however, the *Hannah* Court explains that generally an inconsistent verdict is of no consequence. It quotes from

several leadings cases, including the following from Justice Holmes:

Consistency in the verdict is not necessary. Each count in an indictment is regarded as if it was a separate indictment. . . . If separate indictments had been presented against the defendant for possession (of liquor) and for maintenance of a nuisance, and had been separately tried, the same evidence being offered in support of each, an acquittal on one could not be pleaded as *res judicata* of the other. Where the offenses are separately charged in the counts of a single indictment the same rule must hold.

*Dunn v. United States*, 284 U.S. 390, 393 (1932); *Hannah*, 548 F.2d at 30 (“Where different offenses are charged in separate counts of a single indictment, an acquittal on one or more of the counts does not invalidate a verdict of guilty on another even where the same evidence is offered in support of each count.”) (quoting *United States v. Vastine*, 363 F.2d 853, 854 (3d Cir. 1966)). *Hannah* did vacate a conviction based on an inconsistent verdict, but it involves facts and statutes entirely different than what is before me here. In *Hannah*, the defendant was charged with conspiracy to distribute drugs and facilitation. *Hannah*, 548 F.2d at 29. An element of the facilitation count required the commission of an underlying felony, which the Government explained to the judge and jury, was the conspiracy. The defendant was convicted of facilitation, but acquitted of conspiracy. Therefore, without an underlying substantive crime, the Third Circuit found that defendant’s facilitation conviction could not stand. The *Hannah* Court emphasized its holding was “a narrow one.” *Id.* at 30.

Salahuddin submitted a sur-reply letter brief that cited several other cases that he claims stand for the same proposition: if a charged offense is a predicate offense or constitutes an essential element of another offense, then inconsistent verdicts cannot stand. Salahuddin Sur-Reply at 4-5. Again, Salahuddin has not shown these cases to be relevant. The conspiracy charge here did not require a conviction on an underlying offense nor was an element of the conspiracy necessarily absent because of the jury's acquittal on the substantive offense. The Government argues that *Hannah* was overruled by the Supreme Court in *United States v. Powell*. Gov't Letter Brief, at 2-3 (Dkt. No. 101) at 2-3 (citing *United States v. Powell*, 469 U.S. 57, 63-64 (1984)). I do not find that the Supreme Court explicitly overruled *Hannah*, but it certainly questioned that case. *United States v. Johnstone*, 856 F.2d 539, 544 (3d Cir. 1988) ("In so holding, the [*Powell*] Court stated that cases such as *Hannah* were contrary to the inconsistent verdict rule adopted in *Dunn v. United States*, 284 U.S. 390 (1932)."). Whether *Hannah* was overruled or not is beyond what I need to review because its holding and facts are inapposite to my decision.

In any event, in questioning the holding of *Hannah* and similar cases, the Supreme Court explained again why inconsistent verdicts are generally beyond the court's power to review:

The rule that the defendant may not upset such a verdict embodies a prudent acknowledgment of a number of factors. First, as the above quote suggests, inconsistent verdicts—even verdicts that acquit on a predicate offense while convicting on the compound offense—should not necessarily be interpreted

as a windfall to the Government at the defendant's expense. It is equally possible that the jury, convinced of guilt, properly reached its conclusion on the compound offense, and then through mistake, compromise, or lenity, arrived at an inconsistent conclusion on the lesser offense. But in such situations the Government has no recourse if it wishes to correct the jury's error; the Government is precluded from appealing or otherwise upsetting such an acquittal by the Constitution's Double Jeopardy Clause.

*Powell*, 469 U.S. at 65 (noting also that criminal defendants are protected against inconsistent verdicts by a court's independent review of the sufficiency of the evidence). As will be discussed below, it is not for me to interpret the meaning behind the jury's verdict.

Cooper mounts a similar defense, albeit under a slightly different theory. He concedes that, generally, inconsistent verdicts do not necessitate vacating a conviction. Cooper Reply at 26. Focusing on the jury's acquittal on Count Two, the attempt charge, rather than the other counts related to the substantive offenses, Cooper argues that the elements for attempt are necessarily subsumed by the conspiracy charge and if any element was lacking to commit an attempt, then it would be an impossibility to maintain the conviction for conspiracy. In particular, he argues that this impossibility exists in light of the Government's theory of the conspiracy and that any of the conduct alleged as part of that conspiracy would have constituted a substantial act. In making his argument, however, Cooper improperly equates the elements of attempt with the elements of conspiracy;

these crimes are different and address different criminal conduct. *United States v. Hsu*, 155 F.3d 189, 203 (3d Cir. 1998) (“It is well-settled that conspiracy and attempt serve different roles in the criminal law.”); *United States v. O’Brien*, 972 F.2d 47, 52 (3d Cir. 1992) (“Moreover, along the continuum of different criminal activity, attempt crimes are closer to completed crimes than are conspiracy crimes.”); *see also* *United States v. Raupp*, 673 F.3d 638, 640 (7th Cir. 2012); *United States v. Boykins*, 966 F.2d 1240, 1245 (8th Cir. 1992) (“Attempt and conspiracy contain different elements of proof...”); *United States v. Brito*, 721 F.2d 743, 749 (11th Cir. 1983) (rejecting Defendants argument that it was inconsistent for the jury to convict on a conspiracy charge and acquit on an attempt charge based on the same substantive offense). To prove Cooper attempted to violate the Hobbs Act, the Government had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he (1) intended to commit the underlying crime and (2) performed at least one act constituting a substantial step towards the commission of that crime. *Manzo*, 636 F.3d at 66. To be guilty of conspiracy, the jury had to find that Cooper knowingly or intentionally agreed to the conspiracy, knowing of its objective, and intending to join with at least one other to achieve that objective (*i.e.*, sharing a unity of purpose). *United States v. Rankin*, 870 F.2d 109, 113 (3d Cir. 1989). To follow Cooper’s argument requires the Court to delve into the jury’s thought process. “Such an individualized assessment of the reason for the inconsistency would be based either on pure speculation, or would require inquiries into the jury’s deliberations that courts generally will not undertake.” *United States v. Powell*, 469 U.S. 57, 66 (1984); *United States v. Herrera-Genao*, 419 Fed. Appx. 288, 296 (3d Cir. 2011) (“As such, we will not reverse a

conviction based on mere speculation about the jury's rational deliberation process.”).

It is entirely possible that the jury found that Cooper had the requisite intent for attempt, but that he did not commit a substantial act—or vice versa. *See, e.g., United States v. Nelson*, 66 F.3d 1036, 1044 (9th Cir. 1995) (“[T]he overt act required as an element need not have as immediate a connection to the intended crime as the substantial step required for an attempt.”) (internal quotations omitted); *United States v. Howard*, 918 F.2d 1529, 1533 (11th Cir. 1990) (“Although conspiracy also requires proof of an overt act that furthers the criminal venture, the overt act may be otherwise innocuous and need not pose any danger to society or the intended victim of the conspiracy. In contrast, a ‘substantial step’ towards a criminal attempt usually poses a direct threat to interests protected by law.”) (internal citations omitted); cf. *Bravman v. Bassett Furniture Industries, Inc.*, 552 F.2d 90 (3d Cir. 1977) (discussing intent elements of attempt and conspiracy being different in the context of the Sherman Act). It is precisely because of this type of conjecture that the Court will not tread upon the jury's deliberations. Nor do I see any reason why the jury could not have believed the outlined conspiracy charge and still found that Cooper did not come substantially close to committing the offense in order to be guilty of attempt. Simply because Cooper believes that certain conduct would have satisfied the substantial step argument does not mean the jury agreed. And, in any event, it does not somehow negate the Government's theory that a conspiracy existed or refute the substantial evidence introduced supporting that theory. There is no factual impossibility as Cooper suggests. As the Supreme Court has plainly instructed “each



count of an indictment is regarded as if it was a separate indictment.” *Powell*, 469 U.S. at 62 (quotations omitted). Even assuming that Cooper is correct that the jury did reject the Government’s theory as to the other counts, the jury was properly instructed to look at each count on its own. Therefore, any perceived inconsistency is not enough to vacate a conviction when I find, as I do here, that there is substantial evidence to support that conviction. *Id.* at 67 (“Finally, we note that a criminal defendant already is afforded protection against jury irrationality or error by the independent review of the sufficiency of the evidence undertaken by the trial and appellate courts.”).□In addition, Defendants argue that according to Rule 33, the Court should dismiss the indictment, or order a new trial, given several trial errors that had a substantial influence on the jury’s guilty verdict. The Court will discuss each of those alleged errors in turn.

#### **d. No Brady Violation Occurred**

Salahuddin asserts that his conviction must be vacated because the Government failed to disclose evidence that could be used to impeach Mazzocchi at the time of trial in violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and its progeny.<sup>9</sup> In *Brady*, the Supreme Court held that due process forbids a prosecutor from suppressing “evidence favorable to an accused upon request . . . where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” *Id.* at 87. This extends to evidence that would affect the

---

<sup>9</sup> While Salahuddin raises the argument in his opening brief, he does not respond to the Government’s opposition in his reply.

credibility of a witness. *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 154-55 (1972). To establish a due process violation under Brady “a defendant must show that: (1) evidence was suppressed; (2) the suppressed evidence was favorable to the defense; and (3) the suppressed evidence was material either to guilt or to punishment.” *United States v. Dixon*, 132 F.3d 192, 199 (5th Cir. 1997) (citations omitted); *see also United States v. Pelullo*, 399 F.3d 197, 209 (3d Cir. 2005); *United States v. Higgs*, 713 F.2d 39, 42 (3d Cir. 1983).

Salahuddin argues that material evidence was not provided before trial that could have affected Mazzocchi’s credibility. On cross-examination, Defendants accused Mazzocchi of bribing Oren Dabney in order to receive government contracts. Oren Dabney was a municipal official who was a supervisor of Jersey City Incinerator Authority (“JCIA”). Defense counsel questioned Mazzocchi at length about the payments Mazzocchi made to Dabney and whether they should be characterized as bribes. *See, e.g.*, 9/14/2011 Trial Tr. at 16-17; 9/19/2011 Trial Tr. at 62-63. On November 23, 2011, after trial had completed and the jury had rendered its verdict, the Government sent Defendants’ counsel a letter stating “The Government has received information asserting that the Jersey City Incinerator Authority awarded to Mazzocchi Wrecking six snow removal contracts under Oren Dabney’s leadership between 2002 and 2007” and a list of eight contracts between JCIA and Mazzocchi. Salahuddin Appx. at 46-57. This information came to the Government from an email it received on November 22, 2011. The Government does not explain who sent the email nor has it been able to verify the information in that email. Gov’t Opp. at 52-53.

Based on this disclosure, Salahuddin believes he could have further impeached Mazzocchi at trial, eroding his credibility even more, which would have likely altered the jury's verdict because Mazzocchi's testimony was the "linchpin" of the Government's case against Defendants. Salahuddin Br. at 17. Nowhere does Salahuddin suggest that the Government purposefully withheld the evidence; rather that it had constructive knowledge and should have discovered it before trial. A prosecutor is charged not just with knowledge of evidence in her actual possession, but also with knowledge of evidence about which she "should have known." See *United States v. Joseph*, 996 F.2d 36, 39 (3d Cir. 1993). Such evidence is considered within the prosecutor's "constructive possession." Therefore, Brady and its progeny place an affirmative obligation on a prosecutor "to learn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on the government's behalf in the case." *Pelullo*, 399 F.3d at 216 (quoting *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 437 (1995)). But a prosecutor is not obliged to "to learn of information possessed by other government agencies that have no involvement in the investigation or prosecution at issue." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Merlino*, 349 F.3d 144, 154 (3d Cir. 2003)).

Salahuddin argues that because Mazzocchi was acting under the Government's control, as a cooperating witness, it was charged with his knowledge. The cases he cites in support concern whether state government officers can be considered as part of the prosecutorial team, which undoubtedly they can, depending on circumstances. Salahuddin does not offer any support that the Government can be charged with *all* knowledge possessed by a cooperating witness. The proper question seems to be whether the Government here should have had constructive

knowledge of the JCIA's files. Because Salahuddin has not shown, nor am I able to find based upon the record, that the JCIA was acting on the prosecution's behalf, was part of the investigative team, or that the prosecution had ready access to the JCIA's files, I am not convinced that the Government should be charged with constructive notice of these contracts. *See United States v. Reyerros*, 537 F.3d 270, 282 (3d Cir. 2008).

Even if the Government did have constructive possession of this evidence, I am not convinced that it was material. The Supreme Court has held that there is no Brady violation "unless the nondisclosure was so serious that there is a reasonable probability that the suppressed evidence would have produced a different verdict." *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999). Here, Salahuddin has failed to show that the disclosure of these contracts would have changed the outcome of his trial or that it undermined confidence in the outcome of the trial. As an initial matter, both Salahuddin and Cooper stress in their briefing that Mazzocchi's credibility was "aggressively" challenged on cross-examination. In Salahuddin's words, Mazzocchi was shown to be a "tax cheat, liar, thief and serial corrupter/briber of municipal officials." Salahuddin Br. at 23. In the face of such withering cross-examination, it is extremely doubtful that the admission of additional contracts between the JCIA and Mazzocchi would have tipped the jury's assessment of Mazzocchi's testimony; Defendants had already raised the specter of

Mazzocchi being a corrupt liar who bribed public officials, including Dabney.<sup>10</sup> Indeed, Defendants already knew that Mazzocchi had paid Dabney money and received

JCIA contracts. Counsel questioned Mazzocchi about his involvement with Dabney and the JCIA in detail and suggested during closing arguments that this was another reason why Mazzocchi's testimony should not be believed. Further, counsel already had evidence in *its possession* that showed Dabney received contracts from the JCIA. Before trial, the Government produced F.B.I. reports, including one dated March 28, 2006, that detailed how Mazzocchi received JCIA contracts after Dabney was appointed director and how Mazzocchi made payments to Dabney. "[T]he government is not obliged under Brady to furnish a defendant with information which he already has or, with any reasonable diligence, he can obtain himself." *Pelullo*, 399 F.3d at 209 (quotations omitted). This report was marked by Mr. Ashley as Salahuddin Exhibit 1 during trial and shown to Mazzocchi. 9/14/2011 Trial Tr. at 9. Separately, counsel for both Salahuddin and Cooper questioned Mazzocchi about his relationship with Dabney and whether there was an improper or illegal relationship between the two. For example, Mr. Ashley questioned as follows:

---

<sup>10</sup> Much of Salahuddin's argument is premised on the idea, also advocated by Cooper, that Mazzocchi's trial testimony was the "linchpin" of the Government's case. As I discussed earlier, however, this ignores the substantial evidence from the recorded conversations, the documentary evidence, and other witnesses' testimony.

Q. And did Mr. Dabney ask for those payments or did you suggest to him you would give him those payments in exchange for getting business from him?

A. Mr. Dabney wasn't in a position to give me business. I gave him that money because once I knew he would take over as the fellow that was in charge, he wouldn't consider my bids if I didn't take care of him.

Q. How did you know that? How did you know he wouldn't consider your bids if you didn't take care of him?

THE COURT: Wait until he finishes his questions.

A. Because Mr. Dabney appeared to have other people he was working with, and I knew that he would shut me out and wouldn't allow me to legally bid and legally get awarded jobs.

Q. Did you know that to be a fact, that he had other people that he was working with?

A. Yes.

Q. And you are saying they were paying him also?

A. I don't know that.

Q. You are the only person, to your knowledge, that was actually paying him bribes. Is that correct?

A. I don't know that.

Q. Well, at some point in time your relationship ended when Mr. Dabney decided he didn't want to do it anymore. Is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, how long did you get that business in Jersey City?

A. With Mr. Dabney I didn't get any business. It was prior to Mr. Dabney.

Q. Why, then, did you continue to pay him on eight occasions from a thousand to \$6,000 if you weren't getting any favors?

A. I already had the contract.

Q. So why did you pay him?

A. Because I didn't want him to shut me out when he took over the position.

9/14/2011 Trial Tr. at 16:7-17:21. And Mr. Zegas also questioned him regarding the same subject matter:

Q. When you made payments to Mr. Dabney, were those payments illegal?

A. He never did anything for me.

Q. Did you make payments to Mr. Dabney?

A. Yes.

Q. The payments were illegal; Correct?

A. I guess so.

Q. You paid him money because you didn't want to be left out of future contracts. Isn't that what you testified to before this jury?

A. Right, didn't want him to work against me.

Q. So just like Mr. Clark you are paying Dabney so he wouldn't work against you in the future. Correct?

A. There was no future.

Q. You did it -- that was your insurance policy so that Dabney would not work against you in the future. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You made payments to the man that were illegal. Correct?

A. Right.

Q. And that was a bribe. Correct?

A. Correct.

9/19/2011 Trial Tr. at 62:21-63:18. Mr. Zegas went on to impeach Mazzocchi's answer with the testimony he provided earlier. *Id.* at 62-64. Since Defendants knew that Mazzocchi paid money to Dabney, knew that Mazzocchi received JCIA contracts under Dabney's supervision, questioned Mazzocchi extensively about these dealings, had an opportunity to impeach Mazzocchi's explanation, indeed did impeach him with his prior testimony, and showed Mazzocchi to have bribed public officials for contracts in the past, it strains credulity to find that the additional evidence of contracts was material. Accordingly, the Court concludes that no Brady violation has occurred.

**e. There was No Error Regarding the Instructions to the Jury**

Salahuddin argues the Court erred by not specifically instructing the jury to consider evidence of his good character and did not sufficiently explain the



“*quid pro quo*” requirement for the Hobbs Act. First, I note that despite Defendants’ counsel discussing, reviewing, and revising the jury instructions during two charge conferences, Defendants did not object to the instructions or raise these arguments before the jury was charged. Therefore, this constitutes a waiver unless Defendants can show it was plain error:

Where a party fails to object to the district court’s jury instructions, “he waives the issue on appeal, ‘unless the error was so fundamental and highly prejudicial as to constitute plain error.’” *United States v. Zehrbach*, 47 F.3d 1252, 1261 n.6 (3d Cir. 1995) (en banc) (quoting *Bennis v. Gable*, 823 F.2d 723, 727 (3d Cir. 1987)); *see also* Fed. R. Crim. P. 30(d) (stating that failure to object to the court’s jury instructions “precludes appellate review, except as permitted under Rule 52(b)”). To find plain error, we must conclude that (1) there was error; (2) the error was clear or obvious; (3) the error affected the defendant’s substantial rights; and (4) the error seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the legal proceeding. *United States v. Lee*, 612 F.3d 170, 178 (3d Cir. 2010). If the defendant satisfies this showing, we may, but are not required to, order correction. *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 735-36 (1993) (explaining that the discretion conferred by plain error review “should be employed in those circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result” (internal quotation omitted)).

*United States v. Tyson*, 653 F.3d 192, 211 (3d Cir. 2011). Salahuddin admits no timely objection was

made but briefly comments, by way of footnote, that post-verdict review may be had under the plain error standard. Salahuddin Br. at 26, n.10. Nevertheless, he fails to analyze the four factors relevant to the plain error standard at all or demonstrate any potential miscarriage of justice.

Even absent any showing of plain error, I am not convinced the instructions were incorrect. Regarding the jury's consideration of Salahuddin's good character, the Third Circuit has explained a "standing alone" charge is not mandatory:

While the [*United States v. Baysek*, 212 F.2d 446, 447-48 (3d Cir. 1954)] decision approved a "standing alone" charge, it certainly did not require one...Instead, "all that was required" was that the jury "must have understood that if after consideration of all the evidence, including the character evidence, they were satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt they should convict him even though he offered evidence of good character." 212 F.2d at 448.

\* \* \*

We hold that so long as an instruction consistent with *Quick*, *Frischling*, and *Baysek* is given, which calls the jury's attention to its duty to take character evidence into account with all of the other evidence in deciding whether the government has proved its charge beyond a reasonable doubt, the omission of the express "standing alone" language which was requested here is not an abuse of the discretion vested in the trial court to

choose the wording of the character evidence charge.

*United States v. Spangler*, 838 F.2d 85, 87 (3d Cir. 1988). My instruction to the jury conformed to Spangler, nearly verbatim, and the cases upon which it relies. The jury was told the following:

You have heard opinion and reputation evidence about whether defendant Salahuddin had a character trait for honesty and whether he was law-abiding.

You should consider this character evidence together with and in the same way as all the other evidence in the case in deciding whether the government has proved the charges beyond a reasonable doubt.

10/06/2011 Trial Tr. at 62. The jury was informed of its duty to take character evidence into account with all other evidence in assessing the Government's case. The cases cited by Salahuddin, in particular Baysek discussed by the Third Circuit in Spangler, do not support a different result, but apply the same standard enunciated in Spangler—that character evidence, if properly before the jury, should be considered and if that evidence or any evidence creates a reasonable doubt as the charge, then the jury must acquit. *See, e.g., Edgington v. United States*, 164 U.S. 361, 366 (1896) (“[T]o the effect that evidence of the good character of the defendant is not to be considered unless the other evidence leaves the mind in doubt, the decided weight of authority now is that good character, when considered in connection with the other evidence in the case, may generate a reasonable doubt.”).

Next, Salahuddin argues that the Court was required to instruct the jury that the Government had to show proof of an “explicit promise” in order to sustain a conviction as part of the *quid pro quo* requirement of the Hobbs Act. Whether such an instruction is necessary depends on the alleged conduct at issue. For charges averring extortion under the color of official right in the context of political contributions, then there must be a showing of an explicit promise. “Political contributions are of course vulnerable if induced by the use of force, violence, or fear. The receipt of such contributions is also vulnerable under the Act as having been taken under color of official right, *but only if the payments are made in return for an explicit promise* or undertaking by the official to perform or not to perform an official act.” *McCormick v. United States*, 500 U.S. 257, 273 (1991) (emphasis added). But outside of this context, such a showing is not necessary:

We reject petitioner’s criticism of the instruction, and conclude that it satisfies the *quid pro quo* requirement of *McCormick v. United States*, 500 U.S. 257 (1991), because the offense is completed at the time when the public official receives a payment in return for his agreement to perform specific official acts; fulfillment of the *quid pro quo* is not an element of the offense. We also reject petitioner’s contention that an affirmative step is an element of the offense of extortion “under color of official right” and need be included in the instruction. As we explained above, our construction of the statute is informed by the common-law tradition from which the term of art was drawn and understood. We hold today that the Government need only show

that a public official has obtained a payment to which he was not entitled, knowing that the payment was made in return for official acts.

*Evans v. United States*, 504 U.S. 255, 268 (1992); *United States v. Bradley*, 173 F.3d 225, 231 (3d Cir. 1999) (following Justice Kennedy's concurrence in *Evans* to hold that, outside "non-campaign cases," proof of an explicit promise is not required); see *Salahuddin Br.* at 37 (quoting *Evans* language). In line with this case law, the Court instructed the jury as follows:

The government is not required to prove the public official made any specific threat or used force or fear to cause the cooperating witness to part with the money or other benefit that the Indictment alleges the defendant attempted to obtain by extortion under color of right. However, the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the public official knowingly and willfully, as those terms are defined later in these instructions, used his official position in order to obtain something of value to which he had no right.

\* \* \*

Counts 1, 2 and 4 involve benefits and things of value that include political contributions. Solicitation or acceptance by a public official of a political contribution, by itself, does not constitute extortion under color of official right or bribery even if the person making the contribution has business pending before the official, or if that person has a hope or

expectation the official will look favorably upon him as a result of the contribution. The solicitation and acceptance of political contributions are lawful and appropriate parts of our political system. However, if a particular defendant as a public official solicits, receives, obtains, or accepts a political contribution knowing that it is given in exchange for an explicit promise or understanding by the official to perform or not to perform a specific official act or course of official action, then that defendant has committed extortion under color of official right and bribery.

10/06/2011 Trial Tr. at 27, 29-30. Therefore, the jury was informed that an explicit promise was required in the campaign context, as required by the Supreme Court's holdings in *McCormick* and *Evans*. Salahuddin recognizes, even quotes from, this precedent, but nonetheless asserts that other opinions have held otherwise, including *Manzo*, 714 F. Supp. 2d at 497, discussed above. After reviewing these cases, the Court finds no support for Defendants' argument. Indeed, *Manzo* does not discuss jury instructions in the non-campaign context versus the campaign context. I find that Salahuddin's argument has no basis in the law and there was no error as to the jury instructions.

**f. Defendants Have Failed to Show The Government Engaged in Outrageous Conduct or Selective Prosecution**

Cooper argues the Government engaged in (1) outrageous and intolerable conduct and (2) in selective prosecution and that either ground necessitates the Court vacating Defendants' conviction. The Gov-

ernment argues that both arguments are untimely and lack merit.

The supposedly shocking, outrageous and intolerable Government conduct stems from the Government's use of Mazzocchi as a cooperating witness. In particular, Cooper believes that the Mazzocchi was given free rein to control the investigation and development of the case and that Mazzocchi was allowed to do so based on his racial prejudices. In *United States v. Twigg*, the Third Circuit explained that "fundamental fairness will not permit any defendant to be convicted of a crime in which police conduct was 'outrageous.'" 588 F.2d 373, 378-379 (3d Cir. 1978). There the Drug Enforcement Agency supplied an abundance of the resources and chemicals necessary to start manufacturing illegal drugs, all under the supervision and authority of a convicted felon. That felon then persuaded the defendant to assist him with his enterprise. The court found that even aside from a defense of entrapment, a conviction could not stand when the Government "implanted the criminal design in Defendant's mind" and "set him up, encouraged him, provided the essential supplies and technical expertise." *Id.* at 381. Considering the totality of the Government's conduct combined with the fact that defendant did not initiate involvement with the crime, the Twigg Court found this "egregious conduct on the part of government agents generated new crimes by the defendant merely for the sake of pressing criminal charges against him when, as far as the record reveals, he was lawfully and peacefully minding his own affairs." *Id.* Only in this one instance has the Third Circuit overturned a conviction based on outrageous or egregious government conduct. *United States v. Lakhani*, 480 F.3d 171, 180-81 (3d Cir. 2007) ("We have said that this

principle is to be invoked only in the face of the most intolerable government conduct—not each time the government acts deceptively or participates in a crime that it is investigating.”) (internal citation and quotations omitted).

The conduct here does not rise to the level described in *Twigg*. The evidence supports a finding that Salahuddin and Cooper set in motion this conspiracy and freely and fully participated in it. No evidence suggests this was a scheme hatched entirely by the Government or Mazzocchi. Salahuddin and Cooper were not lawfully and peacefully minding their affairs and duped by government action into fomenting this conspiracy. The Government did not, on its own accord, implant the idea for the conspiracy in Defendants’ mind, create the conditions or circumstances to further Defendants’ plans, or supply material aid to Defendants’ endeavors. Rather, it appears that Salahuddin and Cooper came to Mazzocchi through Parlavecchio. As discussed above, the evidence is replete with affirmative statements by the Defendants articulating and outlining the contours of their conspiracy.

Defendants focus on the racial statements and epithets made by Mazzocchi during the recorded conversations. This dovetails with Cooper’s argument that the Government selectively prosecuted Salahuddin and Cooper, both African-Americans, and not Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio, both Caucasian, at the behest of Mazzocchi, because of a racist intent and a bias against Newark’s set-aside program that benefits minorities. It goes without saying the Court finds the racial epithets of Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio repugnant to common standards of decency. But acquittal is not required whenever the



Government has to involve itself with unsavory characters in the course of conducting an investigation. To do so would allow few convictions to stand. Even if this argument had some merit, Defendants have failed to show that Mazzocchi exerted complete dominion over the Government's investigation or that it was at all influenced by similar motivations.

Cooper's argument that the Government selectively prosecuted only himself and Salahuddin because they were African-American also fails. Initially, the Court notes that such an objection is properly brought before trial. "The question of discriminatory prosecution' relates 'to a constitutional defect in the institution of the prosecution.' *United States v. Berrigan*, 482 F.2d 171, 175 (3d Cir. 1973). A motion alleging a defect in institution of the prosecution must be raised before trial." *United States v. Brookins*, 413 Fed. Appx. 509, 514 (3d Cir. 2011) (citing Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(A)). Nevertheless, even if the objection were properly before the Court, it cannot succeed because Mazzocchi and Parlavecchio are not similarly situated to either Salahuddin or Cooper.

In order to prove discriminatory prosecution, the Court looks to ordinary equal protection standards. The Supreme Court has articulated the requisite showing to be made: "The claimant must demonstrate that the federal prosecutorial policy had a discriminatory effect and that it was motivated by a discriminatory purpose. To establish a discriminatory effect in a race case, the claimant must show that similarly situated individuals of a different race were not prosecuted." *United States v. Armstrong*, 517 U.S. 456, 465-66 (1996). Such a showing must be made by "clear evidence." *Id.* Mazzocchi was not similarly situated because he was working with law en-

forcement, while Salahuddin and Cooper were not. The Third Circuit has found this to be enough to deny a claim of selective prosecution. *United States v. Rhines*, 143 Fed. Appx. 478, 481 (3d Cir. 2005) (“Here, the record establishes that Rhines and Gair were not similarly situated because, as the District Court noted, Gair was cooperating with law enforcement officials while Rhines was not.”). And there was far less evidence concerning Parlavecchio’s involvement with the conspiracy. As discussed above, Parlavecchio may have played an initial role in introducing Salahuddin and Cooper to Mazzocchi, but otherwise was not involved with the Defendants. Determining why Parlavecchio’s involvement essentially ceased would, inappropriately, require conjecture by this Court. Nor was there evidence developed establishing all of the necessary elements of the conspiracy, as to Parlavecchio, including whether he ever had an intent to join the conspiracy. Defendants have not met the high burden of establishing either a discriminatory effect or discriminatory purpose.

**g. The Jury was Free to Disregard Defendants’ Alleged Motivation**

Finally, Salahuddin argues that his intent was not conspiratorial nor criminal, but benign, and he only sought to advance the interest of minority business owners in Newark. First, he contends that the exception in 18 U.S.C. § 1951(c) for labor union activities applies to him. But Salahuddin does not adequately explain how promoting minority business is at all related to labor union activities nor does he cite any case law in support of his argument. The Court finds that this analogy is too attenuated to bring Salahuddin’s conduct within the narrow ambit of § 1951(c). Moreover, his argument is more appropri-

ately directed to whether he had intent to enter into the conspiracy and has been addressed at times throughout this opinion. Salahuddin echoes the same argument he made at trial before the jury. And it was for the jury to accept or deny his theory. Instead of believing that Salahuddin was solely motivated to provide opportunities for minorities, the jury accepted the Government's theory that Salahuddin conspired to use his official position to benefit himself through his surreptitious relationship with Cooper. Cooper also argues that the impetus for the arrangement was not to improperly funnel work to Cooper for Defendants' benefit, but to increase minority participation in Mazzocchi's business. Cooper cites recorded conversations in support. Again, the jury was free to either believe or disregard this evidence. Because the jury's verdict was supported by substantial evidence there is no basis to disturb the conviction.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Defendants' motions are denied. An order will be entered consistent with this Opinion.

Dated: July 19, 2012

/s/ Freda L. Wolfson  
Honorable Freda L. Wolfson  
United States District Judge